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UNIT Q3 2022 Q3 2021 Change (%) Q1-Q3 2022 Q1-Q3 2021 Change (%)

NEW BUSINESS LEASING EURK 565'494 372'194 51.9 1'652'165 1'136'659 45.4

DACH EURk 150'596 112'797 33.5 408'517 328'186 24.5

Western Europe (without DACH) EURk 142'490 94'579 50.7 423'894 302'623 40.1

Southern Europe EURk 133'910 82'459 62.4 423'781 257'166 64.8

Northern/Eastern Europe EURk 104'778 61'576 70.2 302'761 184'571 64.0

Other regions EURk 33'720 20'784 62.2 93'212 64'112 45.4

NEW BUSINESS FACTORING EURK 204'972 178'469 14.9 571'537 509'097 12.3

of which Germany EURk 45'951 51'182 – 10.2 131'215 158'457 – 17.2

of which International EURk 159'021 127'287 24.9 440'322 350'640 25.6

GRENKE BANK

New business lending business EURk 11'505 905 1'171.6 40'946 21'756 88.2

CONTRIBUTIONS MARGIN 2 (CM2) ON NEW BUSINESS

LEASING EURK 92'692 63'580 45.8 269'121 207'223 29.9

DACH EURk 18'083 13'808 31.0 50'549 42'929 17.7

Western Europe (without DACH) EURk 24'754 17'305 43.0 73'855 59'690 23.7

Southern Europe EURk 22'892 15'827 44.6 70'422 52'626 33.8

Northern/Eastern Europe EURk 19'980 12'099 65.1 55'930 36'953 51.4

Other regions EURk 6'983 4'541 53.8 18'365 15'024 22.2

FURTHER INFORMATION LEASING

Number of new contracts units 66'076 48'724 35.6 200'174 154'015 30.0

Mean acquisition value EURk 8'558 7'639 12.0 8'254 7'380 11.8

Mean term of contract per end of period months 47.8 47.5 0.7 47.8 47.8 0.2

Volume of leased assets per end of period EURm 8'956 8'732 2.6 8'956 8'732 2.6

Number of current contracts per end of period units 1'013'712 988'651 2.5 1'013'712 988'651 2.5

Regions: 
DACH: Germany, Austria, Switzerland 
Western Europe (without DACH): Belgium, France, Luxembourg, the Netherlands 
Southern Europe: Croatia, Italy, Malta, Portugal, Slovenia, Spain 
Northern / Eastern Europe: Denmark, Finland, Ireland, Latvia, Norway, Sweden, UK / Czechia, Hungary, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, 
Other regions: Australia, Brazil, Canada, Chile, Singapore, Turkey, UAE, USA 
 
Consolidated franchise companies:  
Leasing: Australia (2x), Canada (3x), Chile, Latvia, Norway 
Factoring: Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Poland, Portugal, UK

Group key figures
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UNIT
Q3 

 2022
Q3 

 2021 Change (%)
Q1-Q3 
 2022

Q1-Q3 
 2021 Change (%)

INCOME STATEMENT

Net interest income EURk 85'755 90'845 – 5.6 261'020 280'452 – 6.9

Settlement of claims and risk provision EURk 30'283 37'259 – 18.7 89'935 121'382 – 25.9

Total operating expenses EURk 70'755 60'793 16.4 203'310 187'227 8.6

Operating result EURk 21'293 27'092 – 21.4 74'948 74'967 0.0

Earnings before taxes (EBT) EURk 27'685 25'409 9.0 83'251 67'819 22.8

NET PROFIT EURK 20'332 20'123 1.0 61'791 52'374 18.0

NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY SHARE-
HOLDERS

EURK 23'190 23'960 – 3.2 56'804 47'934 18.5

NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO HYBRID CAPITAL 
HOLDERS

EURK 0 0 N.A. 9'082 9'404 – 3.4

NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON-CONTROLLING 
INTERESTS 

EURK – 2'858 – 3'837 25.5 – 4'095 – 4'964 17.5

Earnings per share  
(basic and diluted)

EUR 0.50 0.51 – 2.0 1.22 1.03 18.4

Cost/income ratio percent 56.5 47.4 19.2 54.3 48.0 13.1

Staff cost EURk 38'233 30'481 25.4 106'248 95'492 11.3

of which total remuneration EURk 31'557 25'182 25.3 87'468 79'101 10.6

of which fixed remuneration EURk 26'925 20'270 32.8 73'139 63'216 15.7

of which variable remuneration EURk 4'632 4'912 – 5.7 14'329 15'885 – 9.8

Average number of employees in full-time equivalent (FTE) employees 1'904 1'779 7.0 1'854 1'790 3.6
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UNIT Sep. 30, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021 Change (%)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Total assets EURm 6'362 6'661 – 4.5

Lease receivables EURm 5'153 5'119 0.7

Financial Debt: herof deposits GRENKE BANK AG EURm 1'024 1'412 – 27.5

Equity persuant to statement of financial position1 EURm 1'314 1'269 3.5

Equity persuant to CRR EURm 1'203 1'122 7.2

Equity ratio percent 20.7 19.1 8.4

Embedded value, leasing contract portfolio (excl. equity before taxes) EURm 471 485 – 2.9

Embedded value, leasing contract portfolio (incl. equity after taxes) EURm 1'636 1'597 2.4

1  Including AT1 bonds (hybrid capital), which are reported as equity under IFRS
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2424++2222++5454++PP
CONSOLIDATED
GROUP NET PROFIT

KEY FIGURES Q1 – Q3 2022:

EARNINGS PER SHARE EQUITY RATIO

61.8   EUR million 1.22   EUR 20.7   percent

THREE PILLARS: GRENKE CONSOLIDATED GROUP‘S REFINANCING MIX

September 30, 2022

GRENKE Bank: 22

Senior Unsecured: 56

Asset Based: 22

REFINANCING BASE:

%
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9+9+33++33+44+44++41+41+PP
September 30, 2022

%

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE:

Grenke Beteiligung GmbH & Co. KG*

40.84 

* General partner: Grenke Vermögensverwaltung GmbH
 Limited partners: The Grenke Family (Wolfgang, Anneliese, Moritz, Roland and Oliver Grenke)

Free float, pursuant to section 2.3 of the “Guide to the Equity Indices of Deutsche Börse AG”. 
The above information is not guaranteed and based on the voting right notifications received by the Company in accordance with the German Securities Trading Act (WPHG).

The free float, as per Chapter 2.3 of the current  

“Deutsche Börse‘s Stock Indices Guide”, is 59.16%.

Free float

59.16 

Acatis Gane Value Event Fonds

9.35 

Axxion S.A.

3.25 

Investmentaktiengesellschaft für  
langfristige Investoren TGV

3.37 
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Interim group management report

1. Consolidated group principles
1.1  GRENKE overview

The GRENKE Group acts as one of the leading global 

financing partners for small and medium-sized enter-

prises (SMEs). In addition to its core business – leas-

ing – GRENKE offers its customers factoring solutions 

and banking services. Operations are focused on fast 

and simple processing as well as personal contact 

with customers and partners. Founded in 1978 in 

Baden-Baden, Germany, the Company operates in 

33 countries worldwide with over 1,900 employees 

(full-time equivalents) as of September 30, 2022.

1.2 Business model

In the leasing business, GRENKE concentrates primar-

ily on small tickets, i.e. contracts where the acquisition 

value of the financed object is less than EUR 25k. In Q1 

through Q3 of 2022, as in prior years, over 90 percent 

of all leases were small tickets. On average, a contract 

at GRENKE has a volume of approximately EUR 8,000. 

The focus of the leasing portfolio is IT and office com-

munications products. In recent years, the Consoli-

dated Group has expanded its business model to in-

clude other product groups, such as small machinery 

and systems and medical and security devices. 

As of September 30, 2022, the GRENKE Group 

operated a total of 163 locations worldwide. In the 

first three quarters of 2022, GRENKE generated  

94.4 percent of its new leasing business in Europe, 

where it is active in almost all countries. The core 

markets are Germany, France, and Italy. In addition, 

the Consolidated Group is continuously expanding its 

presence outside of Europe by entering markets in 

Asian countries, as well as in Australia, and North and 

South America.

In phases of economic weakness, the Consolidated 

Group is able to respond promptly in its business by 

adjusting its acceptance strategy for lease applica-

tions. By focusing strictly on lower-risk new business 

– such as by foregoing business with higher-risk in-

dustries and customer segments – GRENKE can in-

fluence new business in a targeted manner. In addi-

tion, GRENKE has the flexibility to modify its terms 

and conditions to correspond to the current market 

and macroeconomic conditions. As a result, the 

GRENKE Group's business model has proven in the 

past to be resilient in the face of market fluctuations. 

Thus, even in extremely difficult economic times, such 

as the 2009 financial market crisis and the corona 

pandemic in 2020 and 2021, the Consolidated Group 

has succeeded in enforcing risk-adequate margins 

and operating profitably on a sustained basis. 

1.3 Segments

The  GRENKE Group is divided into three segments: 

Leasing, Banking and Factoring. For a description of 

the business activities and development of the seg-

ments during the reporting period, please refer to the 

comments in section 3.1.3 “Segment development” 

and the explanations in section 12 “Group segment 

reporting” contained in the notes to the condensed 

interim consolidated financial statements.

1.4 Former franchise model

The Consolidated Group primarily used a franchise 

model from 2003 to 2020 to develop new regional 

markets. GRENKE AG did not hold an interest in the 

legally independent companies of the franchisees; 

but instead, the shares were held by financial inves-

tors and the managing directors of the respective 

franchise companies. Independent of the ownership 

structure, the franchise companies have been fully 

consolidated by GRENKE AG since 2020, as well as 

retroactively for the 2019 financial year, due to the de 

facto control in accordance with IFRS 10. At the be-

ginning of 2022, a total of 16 companies were op-

erating under the GRENKE franchise model. In May 

2022, GRENKE AG announced the acquisition of the 

franchise companies in the USA and Singapore. For 
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further details on these transactions, please refer to 

the statements in section 2.1 "Significant events and 

transactions". At the time of preparing this quarterly 

financial statement, the Board of Directors of GREN-

KE AG was in negotiations to acquire the remaining 

franchise companies.

1.5 Shareholder structure

As a medium-sized family business,  GRENKE AG 

has a major shareholder  Grenke Beteiligung GmbH & 

Co. KG, consisting of Anneliese  Grenke, the Compa-

ny's founder Wolfgang  Grenke, and their three adult 

sons. As of December 31, 2021,  Grenke Beteiligung 

GmbH & Co. KG held 40.84 percent of the Compa-

ny's shares. The free float amounted to 59.16  per-

cent. Other shareholders who held an interest of more 

than 3  percent as of the publication date stated in 

the respective voting rights notification and who are 

classified as free float according to the definition of 

Deutsche Börse consist of Acatis Gane Value Event 

Fonds (9.35  percent), Investmentaktiengesellschaft 

für langfristige Investoren TGV (3.37  percent) and 

Axxion S.A. (3.25  percent). The interest held by 

the Board of Directors and Supervisory Board was  

0.3 percent as of the reporting date.

1.6 Targets and strategy

In the medium term, the Consolidated Group intends 

to position GRENKE as a comprehensive small-tick-

et financial services provider not only for European 

but also for SMEs worldwide. To achieve this, the 

 GRENKE Group's goal is to double the volume of new 

business by the 2024 financial year, based on the vol-

ume achieved in the 2021 financial year. At the same 

time, the Consolidated Group is striving for continu-

ously high profitability, including in economically diffi-

cult times. In the view of the Board of Directors, the 

decisive factor in achieving this will be risk manage-

ment; namely, the ability to assess risks as accurately 

as possible and enforce risk-adequate contribution 

margins. The  GRENKE Board of Directors has there-

fore set the additional target of doubling net profit by 

the 2024 financial year, as compared to the baseline 

figure of the net profit for the 2021 financial year, ex-

cluding the gain from the sale of viafintech.

The Consolidated Group has a wide range of refi-

nancing instruments at its disposal, which it uses as 

part of the overall strategy depending on market con-

ditions. Financing is essentially based on three pillars: 

 GRENKE Bank's deposits, asset-based financing (in-

cluding ABCP programmes), and senior unsecured 

instruments such as bonds, debentures and com-

mercial papers. In using these instruments, the Con-

solidated Group avoids the necessary maturity trans-

formation, thereby eliminating potential interest rate 

and follow-on financing risks at the portfolio level. De-

pending on the requirements and market conditions, 

 GRENKE aims to finance between 15 and 30 percent 

of the Consolidated Group's financial liabilities via 

 GRENKE Bank.  GRENKE also attaches great impor-

tance to maintaining a solid equity base that enables 

the Company to also retain its investment grade rating 

and has had an internal benchmark for the equity ratio 

of 16.0 percent for several years.
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2. Business performance
/ / New leasing business in Q3 2022 exceeds level in 

the same prior-year quarter by more than 50 per-

cent 

/ / Four consecutive quarters of Group-wide dou-

ble-digit growth 

/ / Contribution margin 2 increases to  

EUR 92.7 million

/ / Equity ratio of 20.7 percent is well above self-set 

target of 16 percent 

/ / Stronger outlook: Guidance for new leas-

ing business for the financial year 2022 now  

EUR 2.1 –  2.3  billion (previously: EUR  2.0 –  

2.2 billion)

/ / Confirmation of 2022 net profit guidance

/ / Outlook for 2024 reaffirmed

2.1 Significant events and transactions

On February 16, 2022,  GRENKE announced that the 

German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority  (BaFin) 

had completed its bank-related measures resulting 

from the special audit of  GRENKE AG and  GRENKE 

BANK AG conducted between autumn 2020 and 

spring 2021. As part of the regular Supervisory Review 

and Evaluation Process (SREP), there was an adjust-

ment made in the minimum amount of additional own 

resources that must be held by  GRENKE. As a result, 

 GRENKE AG’s capital requirement is now 10.5 percent 

compared to the previous 9 percent, due to an addi-

tional SREP capital surcharge of 1.5 percentage points. 

For the subsidiary  GRENKE BANK AG, the capital re-

quirement at the single-entity level is now 11.5 percent 

compared to a previous 8.5 percent (additional SREP 

capital surcharge of 3 percentage points). BaFin has 

also ordered the assurance of proper rules of proce-

dure.  GRENKE has launched an extensive organisa-

tional development project and has already addressed 

a large number of the findings. The additional SREP 

capital surcharge will be lifted again as soon as  BaFin is 

satisfied with  GRENKE’s further progress when it con-

ducts its regular follow-up audits.

On April 7, 2022,  GRENKE FINANCE PLC success-

fully issued a EUR  150  million bond with a coupon 

of 4.125  percent p.a. and a term of 2.5 years on 

the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. The proceeds of 

the bond will be used to finance the Consolidated 

Group's future new business.

On May 13, 2022,  GRENKE AG held its first Capital 

Markets Update, at which the Board of Directors ex-

plained to investors and lenders the strategy for dou-

bling new business and net profit by 2024 compared 

to the level in the 2021 financial year (excluding the 

gain from the sale of viafintech). The growth target 

is to be achieved by strengthening global sales. A 

special focus is being placed on those countries in 

which  GRENKE has secured a strong market position 

in recent years. Above all, these countries include the 

core markets of Germany, France, Italy and the United 

Kingdom. The Company also sees potential in mar-

kets only recently entered by  GRENKE, which include 

Canada, Australia and the USA.  GRENKE also plans 

to expand its portfolio of leased objects, including 

photovoltaic systems, wallboxes, charging columns 

and electric cargo bikes. In order to ensure the high 

profitability of the business, the Company is focusing 

on even greater digitalisation of its processes and on 

cost efficiency.

On May 23, 2022,  GRENKE announced the conclu-

sion of the purchase agreements for the franchise 

companies in the USA and Singapore. The sellers 

were the investment companies WGW Investment 

Inc. and Garuna Inc. and CTP Handels- und Beteil-

igungs GmbH and Garuna AG, who together held 

58 percent in each franchise company. The remaining 

42 percent in each franchise company is held by the 

local management. The total purchase price agreed 

for the acquired shares of both companies was ap-

proximately EUR  0.3  million. With these purchases, 

 GRENKE has acquired the first two of the total of 16 

franchise companies intended for purchase. The ac-
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quisition has no effect on the scope of consolidation 

under IFRS, as all franchise companies were already 

included in the consolidated financial statements 

under IFRS. The purchase price payment directly 

reduces  GRENKE AG's consolidated equity. For fur-

ther details on the financial effects of the acquisitions, 

please refer to the explanations in section 13 of the 

notes to the condensed interim consolidated financial 

statements. 

At  GRENKE AG's virtual Annual General Meeting on 

May 25, 2022, the majority of shareholders approved 

all items on the agenda. In addition to the distribution 

of a higher dividend of EUR 0.51 per share compared 

to the previous year (2021: EUR 0.26), agenda items 

included the re-election of Norbert Freisleben and 

Jens Rönnberg to the Company's Supervisory Board. 

On June 14, 2022,  GRENKE announced the conclu-

sion of a global loan agreement with NRW.BANK in 

the amount of EUR 20 million. The new loan is the 

tenth loan since the start of the cooperation with NRW.

BANK in 2010 and the first since the beginning of the 

corona pandemic. The cooperation with NRW.BANK 

provides self-employed professionals and SMEs 

access to  GRENKE's leasing offers for new busi-

ness purchases. Commercial companies and self- 

*Source: https://www.ifo.de/en/facts/2022-10-25/ifo-business-climate-remains-gloomy-october-2022.

employed professionals based in North Rhine-West-

phalia with annual sales of up to EUR 500 million are 

eligible.

On September 15, 2022, the Board of Directors 

decided to postpone a bond placement due to 

the environment of high market volatility. A total of 

EUR  352.0  million in new refinancing was raised in 

the third quarter. As a result, the liquidity situation as 

of the end of the quarter remained solid. 

On October 4, 2022,  GRENKE AG's Board of Di-

rectors raised its forecast for new leasing business 

for the 2022 financial year due to the high growth in 

new leasing business to date. Under the assumption 

that the solid business development will continue, the 

Board of Directors raised its guidance and now ex-

pects new leasing business of between EUR 2.1 bil-

lion and EUR  2.3  billion for the 2022 financial year. 

In the guidance published on March 17, 2022, the 

Board of Directors had anticipated a volume of new 

leasing business in the range of EUR  2.0  billion to 

EUR 2.2 billion. 

On October 13,  GRENKE successfully placed a small 

bond amounting to EUR 20 million, featuring a cou-

pon of 6.25 percent and a three-year maturity. 

On October 24,  GRENKE AG was rated for the first 

time by the renowned Fitch rating agency.  GRENKE 

received another investment grade rating of BBB with 

a stable outlook.

2.2 Macroeconomic environment

The macroeconomic environment has been challeng-

ing the past three quarters of this year. In addition to 

the pandemic, significantly negative factors for the 

economy have been, above all, Russia's war against 

Ukraine and the shortage of energy sources. In Ger-

many, the ifo Business Climate Index in October 2022 

stood at 84.3 points, which was 10.5 points below 

the level at the end of 2021 (95.0 points).* While com-

panies only see the current situation as slightly worse 

(94.1 points in October 2022 vs. 97.3 points in De-

cember 2021), business expectations have signifi-

cantly deteriorated (75.6 points vs. 92.6 points).

The sharp rise in energy prices was the primary driver 

for the increase in the eurozone’s annual inflation rate 

in September 2022 to 9.9 percent, marking the peak 

since the introduction of the euro. This far exceeded 

the 2 percent target for annual inflation, prompting the 

European Central Bank (ECB) to increase key interest 

rates on October 27, 2022 for the third consecutive 
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time. This resulted in a rise in the eurozone's key refi-

nancing rate from 0 percent to a level of 2.0 percent. 

In the United States, the Federal Reserve raised key 

interest rates in October for the fifth consecutive time 

this year. In October 2022, the key interest rate was 

in the range of 3.0 to 3.25 percent; in March 2022, it 

was still between 0 and 0.25 percent. 

Despite this environment,  GRENKE succeeded in hold-

ing its own with a 45.5 percent year-on-year increase in 

new leasing business in the first three quarters.

2.3 New business

2.3.1 Leasing

In the third quarter of 2022, new leasing business 

grew sharply by 51.9  percent to EUR  565.5  million 

(Q3 2021: EUR 372.2 million). The Leasing segment 

generated renewed strong growth, despite a mac-

roeconomic environment dominated by numerous 

challenges, including a shortage of energy sources 

causing bottlenecks, especially in energy-intensive 

sectors, alongside rising energy prices and higher 

inflation. The interest hikes already implemented and 

still planned by the central bank are making bank 

lending more expensive, which in the future will likely 

be reflected in lower overall economic demand and 

decreased investment.

Nevertheless, some aspects in the current environment 

are benefitting new leasing business. For example, as 

rising interest rates make loans more expensive, lease 

financing is becoming relatively cheaper for compa-

nies. In addition, banks are becoming more restrictive 

in their lending practices, whereas leasing products 

remain available. As a result, it is becoming more at-

tractive for companies to choose leasing when making 

investments, despite the currently difficult environment. 

The strong growth in new leasing business is also due 

to the success of initiatives to continuously expand the 

reseller network. This global network grew from around 

30,000 resellers at the end of the third quarter of 2021 

to around 33,000 as of September 30, 2022. A less re-

strictive acceptance policy than in the same prior-year 

quarter, which was dominated by Covid-19, also con-

tributed to stronger growth.

New leasing business

EURm Q3 2022 Q3 2021 Change (%) Q1-Q3 2022 Q1-Q3 2021 Change (%)

NEW BUSINESS GROUP LEASING 565.5 372.2 51.9 1'652.2 1'136.7 45.4

DACH 150.6 112.8 33.5 408.5 328.2 24.5

Western Europe (without DACH) 142.5 94.6 50.7 423.9 302.6 40.1

Southern Europe 133.9 82.5 62.4 423.8 257.2 64.8

Northern/Eastern Europe 104.8 61.6 70.2 302.8 184.6 64.0

Other regions 33.7 20.8 62.2 93.2 64.1 45.4
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New leasing business by region 

percent Q3 2022 Q3 2021

1 DACH 26.6 30.3

2 Western Europe (without DACH) 25.2 25.4

3 Southern Europe 23.7 22.2

4 Northern / Eastern Europe 18.5 16.5

5 Other Regions 6.0 5.62424++2626++2626++1818++6+6+PP
1

5

4

232424++2525++2727++1818++6+6+PP
1

5

4

23

Regions:  
DACH: Germany, Austria, Switzerland 
Western Europe (without DACH): Belgium, France, Luxembourg, the Netherlands 
Southern Europe: Croatia, Italy, Malta, Portugal, Slovenia, Spain 
Northern / Eastern Europe: Denmark, Finland, Ireland, Latvia*, Norway*, Sweden, UK / Czechia, Hungary, Poland, Romania, Slovakia 
Other Regions: Australia*, Brazil, Canada*, Chile*, Singapore, Turkey, UAE, USA  
* Consolidated franchise companies

The DACH region is  GRENKE's largest sales mar-

ket. Here,  GRENKE was able to increase new leasing 

business by one-third and generate EUR 150.6 mil-

lion in the third quarter, or 33.5  percent above the 

same prior-year level. Western Europe, the second 

largest region, achieved growth in new leasing busi-

ness of 50.7 percent. 

In the Northern/Eastern Europe region, the strong 

growth drivers in the third quarter were particularly 

the markets of Finland, Ireland, and the United King-

dom. New business in this region overall recorded an 

increase of 70.2 percent.

The Southern Europe region achieved an increase of 

62.4 percent and benefited from growth in Italy, where 

new business volumes have now almost doubled 

again (+88.1 percent) following pandemic-related de-

clines. Other regions mainly comprise the important 

future markets of the USA, Canada and Australia. 

New business in these regions increased year-on-

year by 62.2 percent.
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CM margins in new leasing business

percent Q3 2022 Q3 2021 Change (pp) Q1-Q3 2022 Q1-Q3 2021 Change (pp)

CM1 MARGIN 10.0 10.9 – 0.9 10.5 11.8 – 1.3

CM2 MARGIN 16.4 17.1 – 0.7 16.3 18.2 – 1.9

DACH 12.0 12.2 – 0.2 12.4 13.1 – 0.7

Western Europe (without DACH) 17.4 18.4 – 1.0 17.5 19.7 – 2.2

Southern Europe 17.1 19.2 – 2.1 16.6 20.5 – 3.9

Northern/Eastern Europe 19.1 19.6 – 0.5 18.5 20.0 – 1.5

Other regions 20.7 21.8 – 1.1 19.7 23.4 – 3.7

The CM2 margin, which is central to the Consolidated 

Group, reached a level of 16.4 percent in the report-

ing quarter. The increase in the CM2 margin com-

pared to the previous quarter (Q2 2022: 15.9  per-

cent) reflects the successful adjustment during the 

year in the contract conditions in an environment of 

rising interest rates.  GRENKE plans to continue mak-

ing adjustments to the conditions for new business in 

the months ahead. A year-on-year comparison of the 

CM2 margin (Q3 2021: 17.1 percent) shows a differ-

ence of 0.7 percentage points, which is attributable 

to higher interest rates as well as lower ticket sizes 

in the previous year. In the same prior-year quarter, 

ticket sizes were approximately EUR 900 lower than 

the current average. Smaller ticket sizes are usually 

accompanied by higher profitability.

All of the Consolidated Group's reporting regions re-

ported CM2 margins in the third quarter of 2022 that 

were lower than in the same prior-year quarter, pri-

marily as a result of the interest rate environment. As 

in the previous year, the CM2 margin for the DACH 

region, at 12.0 percent, was at the lower end of the 

range and almost constant compared to the same 

prior-year quarter, with a difference of only – 0.2 per-

centage points. The Southern Europe region, in con-

trast, reported the strongest decline in CM2 margin, 

at a difference of – 2.1 percentage points. The varying 

degrees of margin change result mainly from the fact 

that the countries in the DACH region have much bet-

ter credit ratings than in Southern Europe. In South-

ern Europe, the country of Italy, which is the largest 

sales market, stands out in particular as a country 

with a low credit rating. This has meant that interest 

rates in this region have risen more sharply than in 

the DACH region, which has consequently placed the 

margin under greater pressure. At the upper end of 

the distribution were the other regions with a CM2 

margin of 20.7 percent.

The CM2 margin was able to recover compared to 

the second quarter of 2022, particularly in regions 

where  GRENKE experienced lower year-on-year mar-

gins from the successful adjustment of contract con-

ditions in the reporting quarter. In a quarter-on-quarter 

comparison, the CM2 margin in the third quarter of 

2022 increased by 1.0 percentage points in South-

ern Europe, 1.1  percentage points in Northern and 

Eastern Europe, 2.4 percentage points in the other re-
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gions, and 0.2 percentage points in Western Europe 

(excluding DACH). In the DACH region, there was a 

sequential difference of – 0.1 percentage points.

The CM1 margin of new leasing business (contribu-

tion margin 1 at acquisition cost) was 10.0 percent in 

the third quarter of 2022. The year-on-year decline in 

the CM1 margin can be explained by the time lag in 

passing on higher interest rates and the slightly higher 

mean acquisition value per lease contract.

Lease applications and contracts

unit Q3 2022 Q3 2021 Change Q1-Q3 2022 Q1-Q3 2021 Change

LEASING APPLICATIONS UNITS 121'817  100'416 21.3% 394'731  334'617 18.0%

International markets units 95'426  78'077 22.2% 316'784  265'320 19.4%

DACH units 26'391  22'339 18.1% 77'947  69'297 12.5%

LEASING CONTRACTS UNITS 66'076  48'724 35.6% 200'174  154'015 30.0%

International markets units 47'822  34'327 39.3% 150'324  111'800 34.5%

DACH units 18'254  14'397 26.8% 49'850  42'215 18.1%

CONVERTION RATE PERCENT 54.2 48.5 5.7PP 50.7 46.0 4.7PP

International markets percent 50.1 44.0 6,1pp 47.5 42.1 5.4pp

DACH percent 69.2 64.4 4.8pp 64.0 60.9 3,1pp

AVERAGE NAV EUR 8'558  7'639 12.0% 8'254  7'380 11.8%

ESIGNATURE QUOTA PERCENT 37.8 37.0 0.8PP 40.0 37.5 2.5PP

In the reporting quarter,  GRENKE received approx-

imately 120,000 lease applications, which was sig-

nificantly more than in the same prior-year quarter  

(Q3 2021: around 100,000). The stronger demand for 

leasing products and the Consolidated Group's less 

restrictive acceptance policy meant that 54.2  per-

cent of all applications were converted into contracts, 

compared to a conversion rate of 48.5  percent in  

Q3 2021.  GRENKE concluded a total of over 66,000 

new lease contracts in the reporting period, compared 

to less than 50,000 in the same prior-year quarter. 

The Consolidated Group's reduced focus on espe-

cially high-margin small tickets resulted in the con-

clusion of more lease contracts with larger tickets. 

As a result, the mean acquisition value per lease 

contract rose by 12 percent year-on-year. At around 

EUR 8,600, it remains within the range of EUR 8,000 

to 10,000 expected for the year as a whole, which 

is below the level in 2019. The lower average in the 

same quarter last year reflects the consistent focus 

on small-ticket financing solutions for companies with 

good to very good credit and industry ratings during 

the Covid-19 pandemic.

The acceptance of the eSignature process, which al-

lows lease contracts to be processed entirely digitally, 
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continued to increase during the reporting quarter. 

The proportion of contracts concluded via eSignature 

in the reporting quarter increased to 37.8 percent.

Share of object groups in the leasing portfolio in percent

In new leasing business, all object categories re-

corded year-on-year growth. As the chart shows, 

IT equipment continued to be the most sought-after 

object group in the reporting quarter, accounting for 

29 percent of the total portfolio. However, its share in 

the total portfolio fell year-on-year by 3.1 percentage 

points. The machinery and systems object category 

was able to consolidate its second-place position due 

to its disproportionately strong growth of 81.9  per-

cent compared to the previous year. Consequently, 

this category increased its share of the portfolio to 

22.9  percent. Copying technology followed in third 

place, with its share declining by 2.0  percentage 

points to 17.9  percent. All other object categories 

had a share of less than 10 percent and were able to 

maintain their position in the portfolio. 

 in %

Q3 2021

Q3 2022

IT equipment (inkl. notebooks)

Machinery and other equipment

Photocopy equipment

Medical equipment

Telecommunications

General office technology

Security equipment

Others

Leasing new business object portfolio

29.0

32.1

22.9

19.2

17.9

19.9

8.1

8.3

7.6

7.4

2.9

3.2

3.9

3.8

7.6

6.2
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2.3.2 Factoring

The factoring business, amounting to 1.6 percent of 

total assets (as of the September 30, 2022 report-

ing date), reported new business with a purchased 

receivables volume of EUR  205.0  million in the re-

porting quarter. This corresponds to an increase of  

14.9  percent compared to the third quarter in the 

previous year (Q3 2021: EUR  178.5  million). At 

EUR  46.0  million, the factoring volume in Germany 

was still lower than in the same quarter of the prior 

year (Q3 2021: EUR 51.2 million) due to the realign-

ment of the sales approach. In the international mar-

kets, factoring volumes rose by 24.9 percent year-on-

year, from EUR  127.3  million to EUR  159.0  million, 

following the end of the pandemic-related restrictions 

and the subsequent economic recovery.

New factoring business

unit Q3 2022 Q3 2021 Change Q1-Q3 2022 Q1-Q3 2021 Change

NEW FACTORING BUSINESS EURM 205.0 178.5 14.8% 571.5 509.1 12.3%

Germany EURm 46.0 51.2 – 10.2% 131.2 158.5 – 17.2%

International markets EURm 159 127.3 24.9% 440.3 350.6 25.6%

GROSS MARGIN PERCENT 1.5 1.3 0.2PP 1.4 1.3 0.1PP

Gross margin Germany percent 1.3 1.2 0.1pp 1.3 1.2 0.1pp

Gross margin international markets percent 1.5 1.3 0.2pp 1.4 1.3 0.1pp

AVERAGE PERIOD DAYS 44 35 9 41 35 6

Average period Germany days 24 22 2 24 24 0

Average period international markets days 53 43 10 49 43 6

The gross margin for factoring was in line with the 

market and improved to 1.5 percent in the reporting 

quarter. The gross margin refers to the average period 

for a factoring transaction of 44 days. The payment 

periods and payment behaviour differ in the various 

countries, with the average period of 24 days in Ger-

many significantly lower than the international level of 

53 days.
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2.3.3 Lending business of  GRENKE Bank

After resuming the microcredit business at the end of 

the third quarter of 2021,  GRENKE Bank's new lend-

ing business increased to EUR 11.5 million in the re-

porting quarter (Q3 2021: EUR 0.9 million).  GRENKE 

Bank's new business solely includes the microcredit 

business "Mikrokreditfonds Deutschland” (Microcredit 

Fund Germany) programme.

2.3.4 Currency effects

The year-on-year change in the average exchange 

rates of foreign currencies against the euro led to pos-

itive currency effects of EUR 1.4 million based on the 

new business volume. These resulted mainly from the 

appreciation of the Swiss franc and the Brazilian real, 

which was offset by the depreciation of the Turkish 

lira, the Swedish krona, the Polish zloty and the Hun-

garian forint against the euro.

3. Net assets, financial position and 
 results of operations
3.1 Results of operations

3.1.1 Comparison of the third quarter 2022 versus 

2021

Interest and similar income from financing business 

was almost unchanged year-on-year in Q3 2022 with 

a slight decrease of EUR 1.1 million to EUR 103.5 mil-

lion (Q3 2021: EUR  104.6  million). Interest income 

reflects translation and currency effects, which makes 

comparability with the previous year difficult due to 

the high volatility. In addition, the strong growth in 

new business will not be reflected in interest income 

from lease receivables until later periods. Interest 

expenses from the refinancing and deposit busi-

ness rose by EUR  3.9  million to EUR  17.7  million  

(Q3 2021: EUR 13.8 million). This increase was the 

result of higher refinancing needs for the growing 

new business, in addition to a generally higher lev-

el of interest rates. Net interest income, the balance 

of both items, fell accordingly by EUR 5.0 million to 

EUR 85.8 million (Q3 2021: EUR 90.8 million). The fa-

vourable payment behaviour of customers resulted in 

a decline in expenses for settlement of claims and risk 

provision of EUR 7.0 million to EUR 30.3 million in the 

reporting quarter (Q3 2021: EUR  37.3  million). This 

reduction resulted from the reversal of risk provisions 

recognised in the pandemic due to macroeconomic 

uncertainties, which gradually declined. This effect 

was mitigated through new adjustments to take into 

account the macroeconomic circumstances, particu-

larly the war in Ukraine and higher energy prices. 

Despite these adjustments, the development of 

the risk provision was favourably overall, leading 

to a lower loss rate (expenses for the settlement of 

claims and risk provision in relation to the volume of 

leased assets) of 1.4 percent in Q3 2022 (Q3 2021:  

1.7 percent).

The year-on-year decline in risk provision-

ing led to an increase in net interest income af-

ter settlement of claims and risk provision of  

EUR 1.9 million to EUR 55.5 million in the reporting quarter  

(Q3 2021: EUR 53.6 million).

Profit from service business increased by 

 EUR 0.9 million in the third quarter to EUR 31.4 million 

(Q3 2021: EUR 30.5 million), and profit from new busi-

ness increased by EUR 0.3 million to EUR 8.3 million  

(Q3 2021: EUR  8.0  million). The transition of the 

Consolidated Group's remuneration model towards 

a more attractive level of remuneration in line with 

the market featuring a lower variable remuneration 

component means that fewer initial direct costs are 
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capitalised in accordance with IFRS 16, which is re-

flected in the profit from new business. Gains and 

losses from disposals in the third quarter amounted 

to EUR – 0.1 million (Q3 2021: EUR – 1.1 million). 

Lower expenses for settlement of claims and risk pro-

vision led largely to an increase in the income from op-

erating business of EUR 4.2 million to EUR 95.1 mil-

lion in Q3 2022 (Q3 2021: EUR 90.9 million).

The Consolidated Group's largest expense item, staff 

costs, increased by EUR 7.7 million to EUR 38.2 mil-

lion in the third quarter (Q3 2021: EUR 30.5 million). 

The increase in staff costs resulted from a higher 

number of employees, a change in salaries to a more 

attractive market level of remuneration with a reduced 

variable remuneration component, as well as a Group-

wide inflation-related increase in the basic salary of 

around 3.5 percent in August. In the reporting peri-

od, fixed remuneration amounted to EUR 26.9 million  

(Q3 2021: EUR  20.3  million) and variable remuner-

ation to EUR 4.6 million (Q3 2021: EUR 4.9 million). 

The average number of employees on a full-time 

equivalent basis was 1'904 in the reporting quarter, 

125 above the previous year's number (Q3 2021: 

1'779), due to the addition of new hires. 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments amount-

ed to EUR  10.6  million in the reporting quarter  

(Q3 2021: EUR 8.4 million). This figure includes im-

pairment of goodwill in the amount of EUR 4.0 million 

in Portugal and amortisation of intangible assets. The 

sharp rise in risk-free interest rates in the valuation 

models made it necessary to recognise the impair-

ment loss on the Portugal cash-generating unit al-

ready as of September 30, 2022. Selling and admin-

istrative expenses decreased by EUR  0.1  million to 

EUR 21.9 million (Q3 2021: EUR 22.0 million), remain-

ing almost unchanged. The increase in ancillary staff 

costs, as well as in energy and raw material prices, 

was offset by a reduction in legal, consulting and au-

dit costs. The balance of other operating income and 

expenses was EUR – 3.0 million in the third quarter of 

2022 (Q3 2021: EUR – 3.1 million). This mainly reflects 

currency effects. 

The cost-income ratio (CIR) rose to 56.5 percent in 

the third quarter of 2022 (Q3 2021: 47.4 percent) and 

therefore exceeded the target of below 55  percent 

for the full year. This increase is mainly attributable to 

higher staff costs and the event-related impairment 

of goodwill from higher discount rates in the valua-

tion models. The calculation of the CIR was changed 

with the Capital Markets Update on May 13, 2022, 

and since then has been calculated without the items  

other operating income and expenses and other in-

terest income and expenses. 

The operating result for Q3 2022 was  

EUR  21.3  million, down EUR  4.2  million (Q3 2021: 

EUR  27.1  million), while earnings before taxes in-

creased by EUR 2.3 million to EUR 27.7 million (Q3 

2021: EUR 25.4 million). This includes an extraordinary 

valuation effect from derivative financial instruments 

for interest rate hedges that are related to ABCP fi-

nancing and are not recognised in hedge accounting. 

Please refer to note 7.2.2 in the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements. The tax rate increased to 

26.6 percent (Q3 2021: 20.8 percent), also due to the 

impairment of goodwill, which is not recognisable on 

a tax basis. Net profit of EUR 20.3 million exceeded 

the prior-year quarter by EUR 0.2 million (Q3 2021: 

EUR 20.1 million). The share of profits attributable to 

non-controlling interests to be reported due to the 

consolidation of the franchise companies amounted to 

EUR – 2.9 million (Q3 2021: EUR – 3.8 million). Com-

parability is limited due to the acquisition of 58 per-

cent of the shares in two franchise companies in the 

second quarter of 2022 (for more information, please 

refer to the comments in section 14 of the notes to 

the consolidated financial statements). Earnings per 

share remained almost unchanged in the third quarter 

of 2022 at EUR 0.50 (Q3 2021: EUR 0.51).
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3.1.2 Nine-month comparison 2022 versus 2021

Selected information from the consolidated income statement

EURk
Q1-Q3 
 2022

Q1-Q3 
 2021

Change  
(%)

NET INTEREST INCOME 261'020 280'452 – 6.9

Settlement of claims and risk provision 89'935 121'382 – 25.9

NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER SETTLEMENT OF CLAIMS AND 
RISK PROVISION

171'085 159'070 7.6

Profit from service business 89'433 87'964 1.7

Profit from new business 23'513 26'285 – 10.5

Gains (+) / losses (–) from disposals 296 – 4'697 – 106.3

INCOME FROM  
OPERATING BUSINESS

284'327 268'622 5.8

Staff costs 106'248 95'492 11.3

of which total remuneration 87'468 79'101 10.6

of which fixed remuneration 73'139 63'216 15.7

of which variable remuneration 14'329 15'885 – 9.8

Selling and administrative expenses (excluding staff costs) 72'975 69'209 5.4

of which IT project costs 6'218 4'351 42.9

EARNINGS BEFORE TAXES 83'251 67'819 22.8

NET PROFIT 61'791 52'374 18.0

EARNINGS PER SHARE  
(IN EUR; BASIC / DILUTED)

1.22 1.03 18.4

The nine-month period of the current financial year 

was dominated by the Russian war against Ukraine 

and its consequences, as well as by persistently high 

inflation, rising interest rates and the ongoing pan-

demic. The same period in 2021 was marked above 

all by the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic.

In the first nine months of 2022, net interest income 

was lower than in the previous year at EUR 261.0 mil-

lion (Q1-Q3 2021: EUR  280.5  million). The strong 

growth in new business in recent quarters will lead 

to higher interest on lease receivables in the coming 

periods and, consequently, to a return to higher inter-

est income. At the same time, interest rates for new 

refinancing have risen significantly. Nevertheless, the 

development in the current financial year is still in line 

with expectations. Expenses for settlement of claims 

and risk provision decreased by EUR 31.5 million to 

EUR 89.9 million, compared to EUR 121.4 million in 

the same period last year. The reduction resulted from 

the reversal of risk provisions recognised in the pan-

demic due to macroeconomic uncertainties, which 

gradually decreased. New adjustments introduced 

due to the Ukraine war and to take into account the 

economic environment had a mitigating effect. The 

loss rate fell accordingly to 1.3 percent in the nine-

month period (Q1-Q3 2021: 1.9  percent). Conse-

quently, net interest income after settlement of claims 
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and risk provision increased by EUR 12.0 million to 

EUR  171.1  million in the first nine months of 2022 

(Q1-Q3 2021: EUR 159.1 million).

The profit from service business increased by 

EUR 1.4 million in the first nine months and amount-

ed to EUR 89.4 million (Q1-Q3 2021: EUR 88.0 mil-

lion), whereas profit from new business declined by 

EUR  2.8  million. The change in the Consolidated 

Group's remuneration model towards a more attrac-

tive market level of remuneration and a lower variable 

remuneration component leads to less initial direct 

costs being capitalised according to IFRS 16, which 

is reflected in the profit from new business. Gains/

losses from disposal amounted to EUR  0.3  mil-

lion (Q1-Q3 2021: EUR  – 4.7  million). The income 

from operating business increased accordingly by 

a total of EUR 15.7 million in the nine-month period 

2022 and reached EUR 284.3 million (Q1-Q3 2021: 

EUR 268.6 million).

Staff costs in the nine-month reporting period in-

creased year-on-year by EUR  10.7  million to 

EUR 106.2 million (Q1-Q3 2021: EUR 95.5 million), 

primarily due to the adjustment in salaries to reflect a 

more attractive market level of remuneration, a higher 

number of employees, and the recruitment of special-

ists in the control units, among others. Depreciation 

and amortisation increased by EUR  1.6  million and 

amounted to EUR 24.1 million in the reporting period 

(Q1-Q3 2021: EUR 22.5 million). This increase essen-

tially resulted from the impairment of goodwill. The 

increase in selling and administrative expenses total-

ling EUR 3.8 million stemmed from a higher level of 

ancillary staff costs, sales costs and operating costs, 

which were offset by a decline in legal, consulting 

and audit costs. Consequently, the cost-income ratio 

rose to 54.3 percent in the first nine months of 2022  

(Q1-Q3 2021: 48.0  percent). The calculation of the 

CIR was changed with the Capital Markets Update 

on May 13, 2022 and has since been calculated with-

out other operating income and expenses and other 

interest income and expenses.

The operating result in the reporting period declined 

by EUR 0.1 million to EUR 74.9 million (Q1-Q3 2021: 

EUR  75.0  million) (Q1-Q3 2021: EUR  75.0  million), 

remaining essentially unchanged. Earnings before 

taxes increased by EUR 15.5 million to EUR 83.3 mil-

lion (Q1-Q3 2021: EUR 67.8 million). This is primarily 

a result of the fair value measurement of derivative 

financial instruments for interest rate hedges not 

accounted for in hedge accounting. The tax rate in-

creased to 25.8 percent (Q1-Q3 2021: 22.8 percent), 

mainly due to expenses from the impairment of good-

will that were not recognisable on a tax basis. Con-

sequently, net profit increased by EUR 9.4 million to 

EUR 61.8 million (Q1-Q3 2021: EUR 52.4 million), and 

earnings per share for the first nine months amounted 

to EUR 1.22 (Q1-Q3 2021: EUR 1.03).

3.1.3 Segment development 

The operating segment income in the Leasing seg-

ment was able to defy the overall economic chal-

lenges, mainly because the payment behaviour of 

customers remained stable, facilitating a decline in 

expenses for settlement of claims and risk provision. 

Consequently, the operating segment income in this 

segment rose by EUR 22.9 million to EUR 254.2 mil-

lion (Q1-Q3 2021: EUR 231.3 million), and the seg-

ment result increased significantly by EUR 9.3 million 

to EUR 77.1 million (Q1-Q3 2021: EUR 67.8 million).

Operating segment income in the Banking segment 

fell by EUR 9.5 million to EUR 25.4 million in the re-

porting period (Q1-Q3 2021: EUR 34.9 million), main-

ly as a result of higher risk provisions for previous loan 

portfolios. With staff costs and selling and admin-

istrative expenses rising at the same time, the seg-

ment result reached EUR – 0.5 million (Q1-Q3 2021: 

EUR 11.5 million).

In the Factoring segment, operating segment income 

increased by EUR 2.3 million to EUR 4.7 million in the 
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reporting period (Q1-Q3 2021: EUR 2.4 million), re-

flecting the success of the investments made in the 

sales infrastructure. These investments and start-up 

costs for the stronger international positioning of the 

business led to a segment result of EUR – 1.5 million, 

which was a significant improvement over the same 

prior-year period (Q1-Q3 2021: EUR – 4.3 million).

3.2 Net assets and financial position

Selected information from the consolidated statement of financial position

EURk Sep. 30, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021
Change  

(%)

CURRENT ASSETS 2'828'623 3'195'670 – 11.5

of which cash and  
cash equivalents

459'644 853'071 – 46.1

of which lease receivables 1'966'614 1'963'532 0.2

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 3'533'341 3'465'270 2.0

of which lease receivables 3'186'050 3'155'440 1.0

TOTAL ASSETS 6'361'964 6'660'940 – 4.5

CURRENT LIABILITIES 2'205'150 2'287'620 – 3.6

of which financial liabilities 1'986'453 2'073'493 – 4.2

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 2'842'448 3'104'324 – 8.4

of which financial liabilities 2'746'593 3'003'670 – 8.6

Equity 1'314'366 1'268'996 3.6

Equity ratio 20.7% 19.1% 8.4

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 6'361'964 6'660'940 – 4.5
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3.2.1 Net assets

Compared to the end of the 2021 financial year, 

total assets decreased by EUR  298.9  million to 

EUR 6.4 billion as of September 30, 2022 (Decem-

ber 31, 2021: EUR  6.7  billion) due to the planned 

reduction in cash and cash equivalents, which fell 

by EUR 393.5 million to EUR 459.6 million (Decem-

ber 31, 2021: EUR 853.1 million). As of September 

30, 2022, EUR  300.3  million December 31, 2021: 

EUR 639.3 million) of the cash and cash equivalents 

were held in accounts at the Deutsche Bundesbank, 

which caused corresponding interest expenses be-

fore the ECB adjusted the interest rates for deposit 

facilities in July 2022 due to the negative credit inter-

est rate. 

In the ongoing difficult macroeconomic situation, the 

 GRENKE Group continues to focus on maintaining 

sufficient liquidity in order to have the flexibility to re-

spond to market conditions. The Consolidated Group 

is additionally obliged to maintain a liquidity buffer due 

to regulatory requirements. 

The largest balance sheet item, non-current and cur-

rent lease receivables, increased to EUR  5.2  billion 

compared to the end of the 2021 financial year (De-

cember 31, 2021: EUR 5.1 billion).

On the liabilities side, the decline in total assets is 

particularly evident in the decrease of EUR 344.2 mil-

lion in current and non-current financial liabilities to 

EUR 4.7 billion (December 31, 2021: EUR 5.1 billion). 

The largest share of financial liabilities continued to 

be accounted for by current and non-current liabilities 

from refinancing, which remained almost unchanged 

compared to year-end 2021 at EUR 3.7 billion (De-

cember 31, 2021:EUR 3.7 billion).  GRENKE Bank's 

current and non-current liabilities from the deposit 

business decreased by a total of EUR 388.2 million to 

EUR 1.0 billion (December 31, 2021: EUR 1.4 billion).

Equity increased by EUR  45.4  million to 

EUR 1'314.4 million as of September 30, 2022 (De-

cember 31, 2021: EUR 1'269.0 million). The Consol-

idated Group’s net profit of EUR 61.8 million gener-

ated in the reporting period was mainly offset by the 

distribution of a dividend of EUR 23.7 million and an 

interest payment on hybrid capital (EUR 9.1 million). 

In contrast, the effects from the market valuation of 

hedging instruments (EUR  12.1  million) and curren-

cy translation (EUR 3.9 million) had a positive impact. 

Due to the lower level of total assets and the simul-

taneous increase in equity, the equity ratio rose to 

20.7 percent at the end of September 2022 (Decem-

ber 31, 2021: 19.1 percent) and continued to exceed 

the Consolidated Group's own target of a minimum 

of 16 percent.

3.2.2 Liquidity

The  GRENKE Group met its payment obligations at all 

times in the reporting period, thanks to its diversified 

refinancing structure.

The Consolidated Group has numerous instruments 

at its disposal for refinancing, which are used within 

the scope of the overall strategy depending on mar-

ket conditions. Financing is essentially based on three 

pillars:  GRENKE Bank's deposits, receivables-based 

financing (including ABCP programmes), and senior 

unsecured instruments such as bonds, notes and 

commercial paper. In doing so, the Consolidated 

Group avoids the necessary maturity transformation 

and thus eliminates interest rate change and fol-

low-on financing risks at portfolio level. Depending on 

requirements,  GRENKE aims to finance between 15 

and 30 percent of its financial liabilities via  GRENKE 

Bank.
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The refinancing mix in relation to the  GRENKE Group's 

refinancing pillars was as follows as of September 30, 

2022:

* Further information on these debt issues is available on the website at www.grenke.com/investor-relations/debt-capital/issued-bonds/

EURm Sep. 30, 2022 share in % Dec. 31, 2021 share in %

 GRENKE Bank 1'081 22 1'615 31

Senior Unsecured 2'678 56 2'803 54

Asset Backed 1'066 22 802 15

TOTAL 4'825 100 5'220 100

The decrease in the refinancing base of EUR 395 mil-

lion to EUR  4,825  million (December 31, 2021: 

EUR 5,220 million) resulted mainly from a deliberate 

reduction in customer deposits and a decrease in the 

utilisation of promotional loans. Refinancing via the 

ABCP programmes, in contrast, increased. Refinanc-

ing through senior unsecured instruments as a key 

refinancing pillar remained at a similar level. 

A new fixed-rate bond with a total gross volume 

of EUR  150.0  million and a promissory note of 

EUR  10.0  million were issued* via the subsidiary 

 GRENKE FINANCE PLC in the first nine months 

of 2022.  GRENKE Group also issued a promisso-

ry note of CHF 20.0  million and, in the short-term 

area, three commercial papers with a total volume of 

EUR 70.0 million. Bonds for EUR 310.0 million and 

JPY 1,000.0  million, as well as promissory notes 

amounting to EUR  20.0  million, DKK 20.0  million, 

CHF 10.0 million, and BRL 2.0 million, were repaid as 

scheduled in the reporting period.

The amount of utilisation of the ABCP programmes 

as of September 30, 2022 was EUR  805.1  mil-

lion and GBP 111.9  million (December 31, 2021: 

EUR 554.4 million and GBP 115.8 million). The total 

volume of these programmes was EUR 1,097.8 mil-

lion and GBP 150.0  million (December 31, 2021: 

EUR 947.8 million and GBP 150.0 million).

Refinancing via  GRENKE Bank's customer de-

posits amounted to EUR  1,023.8  million as of the 

September 30, 2022 reporting date, compared 

to EUR  1,108.5  million as of June 30, 2022, and 

EUR 1,521.3 million as of the same date in the pre-

vious year.

The Consolidated Group's unutilised credit lines (i.e. 

bank credit lines plus the available volume of bonds and 

commercial paper) amounted to EUR 3,531.5 million, 

PLN 40.0 million and HRK 40.0 million as of the re-

porting date (December 31, 2021: EUR 2,702.4 mil-

lion, PLN 2.5 million, HRK 75.0 million).
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3.2.3 Financial position

Selected information from the consolidated statement of cash flows

EURk
Q3 

 2022
Q3 

 2021
Change  

(%)
Q1-Q3 
 2022

Q1-Q3 
 2021

Change  
(%)

- Investments in new lease receivables – 579'677 – 385'296 50.4 – 1'692'884 – 1'172'413 44.4

+ Addition of new refinancing (excl. deposit business) 359'474 264'394 36.0 1'282'888 468'587 173.8

+ Net inflows / outflows from deposit business – 84'681 13'990 – 705.3 – 388'155 – 19'971 1'843.6

(I) CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS IN NEW BUSINESS – 304'884 – 106'912 185.2 – 798'151 – 723'797 10.3

+ Payments by lessees 582'189 571'292 1.9 1'731'959 1'757'581 – 1.5

- Payments / Repayments of refinancing  
(excl. deposit business) 

– 325'913 – 267'792 21.7 – 1'295'918 – 1'056'690 22.6

(II) CASH FLOW FROM EXISTING BUSINESS 256'276 303'500 – 15.6 436'041 700'891 – 37.8

(III) OTHER CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES – 4'257 – 5'749 – 25.9 17'037 136'390 – 87.5

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
(I) + (II) + (III)

– 52'865 190'839 – 127.7 – 345'073 113'484 – 404.1

Cash flow from investing activities – 1'904 – 1'557 22.3 – 5'257 – 4'908 7.1

Cash flow from financing activities – 3'319 – 15'321 – 78.3 – 46'787 – 35'590 31.5

TOTAL CASH FLOW – 58'088 173'961 – 133.4 – 397'117 72'986 – 644.1

Cash flow from operating activities in the first nine 

months of 2022 was significantly below the previ-

ous year's level at EUR – 345.1 million (Q1-Q3 2021: 

EUR 113.5 million). This decline was due to the de-

liberate reduction of cash holdings built up during the 

corona crisis, which were invested in new business as 

expected. In the presentation above, cash flow from 

investments in new business includes investments for 

new lease receivables. 

This includes the net acquisition values for the lease 

objects and the costs incurred directly upon conclu-

sion of the contract. Due to the higher volume of new 

business, investments for new lease receivables in-

creased to EUR 1'692.9 million in the first nine months 

of 2022 (Q1-Q3 2021: EUR  1'172.4  million). These 

are offset by cash inflows from the increase in refi-

nancing of EUR 1'282.9 million after EUR 468.6 mil-

lion in the same period of the previous year. In ad-

dition, the Bank's deposit business decreased by 

EUR 388.2 million after EUR 20.0 million in the same 

2 5

G
R

E
N

K
E

 G
R

O
U

P
 

//
 

Q
U

A
R

T
E

R
L

Y
 S

T
A

T
E

M
E

N
T

 F
O

R
 Q

3
 A

N
D

 Q
1

 –
 Q

3
 2

0
2

2

G R O U P  K E Y 
F I G U R E S

I N T E R I M  G R O U P 
 M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

C O N D E N S E D  I N T E R I M  C O N S O L I D AT E D 
F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T

N O T E S  T O  T H E  C O N D E N S E D  I N T E R I M  
C O N S O L I D AT E D  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S

O T H E R 
 I N F O R M AT I O N

C O R P O R AT E  C A L E N D A R  & 
C O N TA C T



period of the previous year. In total, cash flow from 

investments in new business fell to EUR -798.2 mil-

lion (Q1-Q3 2021: EUR – 723.8 million) (Q1-Q3 2021: 

EUR – 723.8 million). In the first nine months of 2022, 

EUR 1'295.9 million (Q1-Q3 2021: EUR 1'056.7 mil-

lion) was repaid to refinancers. Cash flow from exist-

ing business fell to EUR 436.0 million (Q1-Q3 2021: 

EUR 700.9 million) due to higher repayments to refi-

nancers.

Cash flow from investing activities was EUR – 5.3 mil-

lion in the first nine months of 2022 (Q1-Q3 2021: 

EUR – 4.9 million). The main items were payments for 

the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets of EUR  5.1  million (Q1-Q3 2021: 

EUR 5.4 million).

Cash flow from financing activities amounted to 

EUR  – 46.8  million in the reporting period (Q1-Q3 

2021: EUR – 35.6 million). The change resulted main-

ly from the higher dividend payment for the 2021 fi-

nancial year of EUR 23.7 million after EUR 12.1 mil-

lion in the previous year. The interest payment on the 

hybrid capital was EUR  12.9  million (Q1-Q3 2021: 

EUR  13.4  million). The repayment of lease liabilities 

also resulted in a cash outflow of EUR  10.1  million 

(Q1-Q3 2021: EUR 10.1 million).

As a result, total cash flow in the first nine months 

of 2022 equalled EUR – 397.1 million (Q1-Q3 2021: 

EUR 73.0 million). Cash and cash equivalents fell ac-

cordingly to EUR 456.0 million as of September 30, 

2022, compared to EUR 853.0 million at the end of 

the 2021 financial year.

4. Related party disclosures
For information on related party disclosures, please 

refer to section 16 in the notes to the condensed in-

terim consolidated financial statements.

5. Report on risks, opportunities and 
forecasts
5.1 Opportunities and risks

The Russian war of aggression against Ukraine has 

changed the opportunity and risk situation present-

ed in the Annual Report 2021 (published March 17, 

2022). In particular, the risk of an economic downturn 

has increased (for more detail, please refer to the ex-

planations in sections 2.1 and 5.2). An impairment of 

the supply of natural gas and crude oil as a result of 

the war would have a particularly negative impact on 

production in the manufacturing industry. Persistent-

ly high inflation may have an impact on private con-

sumption and, therefore, on the use of services and 

products by medium-sized companies, which are 

among  GRENKE AG's customers. 

Volatility on the capital markets has increased, which 

means that the availability of cash and cash equiva-

lents may be limited in the short term. Due to the ad-

equate liquidity position and the active management 

of liquidity via various refinancing sources, as well as 

the active management of the acceptance policy in 

the new leasing business, the Board of Directors sees 

sufficient room for manoeuvre – even in the current 

environment – to ensure liquidity in the short and me-

dium term. Moreover,  GRENKE does not have its own 
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branches in Russia or Ukraine or financial exposure to 

these countries. 

Volatility on the interest rate and currency markets can 

also lead to temporary valuation effects at  GRENKE. 

These can have a temporary effect on the translation 

of foreign currency items, the measurement of deriv-

atives, and the measurement of goodwill. Neverthe-

less, the Board of Directors does not believe this will 

have any adverse effect on the long-term profitability 

of the business model. 

Apart from the risks described above, there were no 

other significant changes in the opportunities and 

risks in the reporting period. With regard to the fu-

ture development of the Consolidated Group and the 

subsidiaries, no particular risks associated with the 

business that go beyond the normal level have been 

identified.

5.2 Macroeconomic and sector  
environments

In October 2022, the International Monetary Fund 

(IMF) forecast a slowdown in global economic growth 

from 6.0 percent in 2021 to 3.2 percent in the cur-

rent year. The IMF expects the eurozone to grow by 

3.1 percent in 2022. With Germany particularly hard 

hit by a lack of Russian energy supplies and sharply 

rising energy prices, the forecast for economic growth 

for Germany is 1.5 percent. The forecasts for France 

and Italy,  GRENKE's key target markets, are slight-

ly higher with expected growth of 2.5  percent and 

3.2 percent, respectively. For 2023, the IMF is fore-

casting growth of 2.7 percent. Primarily responsible 

for this assessment are three issues: rising energy 

prices weighing on the eurozone economy, disrup-

tions in China's supply chains hampering growth, 

and, in the USA, a labour market that is losing mo-

mentum as a result of the Fed's interest rate hike.

The IMF believes the future development of the econ-

omy rests on the successful calibration of mone-

tary policy, which should curb inflation, while at the 

same time ensuring the decline in overall economic 

demand is not excessive. There also may be further 

supply-side shocks, depending on the course of the 

war in Ukraine and the supply chains to China.

5.3 Company forecast

As a result of the political and economic situations, 

there continues to be considerable uncertainty asso-

ciated with the forecasts for the 2022 financial year. 

Despite this, the Company performed well, with new 

leasing business up 45.4 percent in the first three 

quarters of 2022. Under the assumption that the sol-

id business development will continue, the Board of 

Directors increased its guidance for new leasing busi-

ness to EUR 2.1 billion to EUR 2.3 billion for the 2022 

financial year in an ad hoc announcement on October 

4, 2022. The previous guidance range had been EUR 

2.0 billion to EUR 2.2 billion.

The CM2 margin of new leasing business in the 2022 

financial year is still expected to be slightly below the 

previous year (2021: 17.6  percent). This decline is 

particularly a result of the higher interest rates and the 

time lag in passing these increases on to customers. 

In the months ahead,  GRENKE will continue to embed 

interest rate increases in the new business conditions. 

When assessing the CM2 margin, it is important to 

note the average ticket size, which is increasing again. 

The mean acquisition value per lease contract in the 

2022 financial year is expected to be above EUR 8,000 

but below EUR 10,000, as in previous financial years.
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The lower volume of new business in the 2020 and 

2021 financial years, which was largely affected 

by the Covid-19 pandemic, will lead to lower inter-

est income from the leasing portfolio in the current 

financial year, as expected. At the same time, staff 

costs in the 2022 financial year will increase due to 

institution-related measures that, among others, have 

strengthened the Compliance and Money Launder-

ing Prevention departments in terms of staff, as well 

as to the adjustment in salaries and their structure in 

line with market standards, and a one-time payment 

to compensate employees for inflation. The Board of 

Directors anticipates a mitigating effect from the ex-

pected decrease in expenses for risk provision, re-

sulting from the continued good payment behaviour 

of customers in 2022 that is to be expected. In con-

clusion, the Board of Directors expects a net profit 

in the range of EUR 75 million and EUR 85 million 

for the 2022 financial year. Compared to the previous 

year, this corresponds to a stable to slightly higher 

net profit due to the fact that the net profit for the 

2021 financial year of EUR 95.2 million included ex-

traordinary income of EUR 23.0 million from the sale 

of the viafintech shares. Accordingly, after deducting 

the extraordinary profit, the 2021 financial year ba-

sis of comparison for the current 2022 financial year 

would be EUR 72.2 million. Using this 2021 basis of 

comparison, net profit is also expected to double by 

the end of the 2024 financial year as a result of the 

scalability of the business.

The expectation for the net profit target range in the 

2022 financial year is based on the assumption that 

the loss rate will range from 1.4 percent to 1.7 per-

cent, which is almost within the normal range. This 

is due to the solid portfolio of lease contracts, the 

stable level of incoming payments in recent quarters, 

and the appropriately conservative risk provisioning 

already recognised in light of the pandemic. Despite 

the expectation that income from operating business, 

and particularly interest income, will be below the pre-

vious year due to the lower new business in previous 

years and that further investments will be necessary, 

the Board of Directors is aiming for a cost-income ra-

tio of below 55 percent in 2022.

Based on the expected development of the Consoli-

dated Group’s net profit,  GRENKE expects an equity 

ratio above 16.0 percent (2021: 19.1 percent).

2 8

G
R

E
N

K
E

 G
R

O
U

P
 

//
 

Q
U

A
R

T
E

R
L

Y
 S

T
A

T
E

M
E

N
T

 F
O

R
 Q

3
 A

N
D

 Q
1

 –
 Q

3
 2

0
2

2

G R O U P  K E Y 
F I G U R E S

I N T E R I M  G R O U P 
 M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

C O N D E N S E D  I N T E R I M  C O N S O L I D AT E D 
F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T

N O T E S  T O  T H E  C O N D E N S E D  I N T E R I M  
C O N S O L I D AT E D  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S

O T H E R 
 I N F O R M AT I O N

C O R P O R AT E  C A L E N D A R  & 
C O N TA C T



Condensed interim consolidated financial statements

Consolidated income statement

EURk
Q3 

 2022
Q3 

 2021
Q1-Q3 
 2022

Q1-Q3 
 2021

Interest and similar income from financing business1 103'479 104'628 308'500 324'023

Expenses from interest on refinancing and deposit business 17'724 13'783 47'480 43'571

NET INTEREST INCOME 85'755 90'845 261'020 280'452

Settlement of claims and risk provision 30'283 37'259 89'935 121'382

Of which, impairment losses 14'731 11'454 34'052 56'209

NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER SETTLEMENT OF CLAIMS AND RISK PROVISION 55'472 53'586 171'085 159'070

Profit from service business 31'444 30'493 89'433 87'964

Profit from new business 8'256 7'958 23'513 26'285

Gains(+) / losses (–) from disposals – 114 – 1'088 296 – 4'697

INCOME FROM OPERATING BUSINESS 95'058 90'949 284'327 268'622

Staff costs 38'233 30'481 106'248 95'492

Depreciation and impairment 10'584 8'361 24'087 22'526

Selling and administrative expenses (not including staff costs) 21'938 21'951 72'975 69'209

Other operating expenses 4'406 4'138 10'032 9'912

Other operating income 1'396 1'074 3'963 3'484

OPERATING RESULT 21'293 27'092 74'948 74'967

Result from investments accounted for using the equity method 0 – 10 – 4 – 409

Expenses / income from fair value measurement 7'488 773 14'163 1'104

Other interest income 467 859 1'302 2'120

Other interest expenses 1'563 3'305 7'158 9'963

EARNINGS BEFORE TAXES 27'685 25'409 83'251 67'819

Income taxes 7'353 5'286 21'460 15'445

NET PROFIT 20'332 20'123 61'791 52'374

of which total comprehensive income attributable to ordinary shareholders and hybrid capital holders of  GRENKE AG 23'190 23'960 65'886 57'338

of which total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests – 2'858 – 3'837 – 4'095 – 4'964

Earnings per share (basic/diluted in EUR) 0.50 0.51 1.22 1.03

Average number of shares outstanding 46'495'573 46'495'573 46'495'573 46'495'573

1 Interest and similar income calculated according to the effective interest method amounted to EURk 5'653 in the reporting period (previous year: EURk 5'375).
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

EURk
Q3 

 2022
Q3 

 2021
Q1-Q3 
 2022

Q1-Q3 
 2021

NET PROFIT 20'332 20'123 61'791 52'374

ITEMS THAT MAY BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT AND LOSS IN FUTURE PERIODS

Appropriation to / reduction of hedging reserve 6'366 – 656 12'107 935

thereof: income tax effects – 910 93 – 1'730 – 134

Change in currency translation differences – 1'002 – 349 3'903 1'848

thereof: income tax effects 0 0 0 0

ITEMS THAT MAY BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT AND LOSS IN FUTURE PERIODS

Equity instruments (IFRS 9) 0 0 0 – 75

thereof: income tax effects 0 0 0 0

Appropriation to / reduction of reserve for actuarial gains and losses 0 0 0 0

thereof: income tax effects 0 0 0 0

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 5'364 – 1'005 16'010 2'708

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 25'696 19'118 77'801 55'082

of which total comprehensive income attributable to ordinary shareholders and  
hybrid capital holders of  GRENKE AG

28'788 28'811* 82'709 60'431

of which total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests – 3'092 – 3'693* – 4'908 – 5'349

*adjusted
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Consolidated statement of financial position

EURk Sep. 30, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 459'644 853'071

Derivative financial instruments that are assets 5'575 5'331

Lease receivables 1'966'614 1'963'532

Other current financial assets 180'398 169'119

Trade receivables 6'124 6'050

Lease assets for sale 12'185 12'431

Tax assets 20'499 16'815

Other current assets 177'584 169'321

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 2'828'623 3'195'670

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Lease receivables 3'186'050 3'155'440

Derivative financial instruments that are assets 36'428 4'878

Other non-current financial assets 107'303 97'059

Investments accounted for using the equity method 0 162

Property, plant and equipment 86'881 82'082

Right-of-use assets 36'135 41'979

Goodwill 36'835 41'031

Other intangible assets 17'288 19'278

Deferred tax assets 23'132 20'032

Other non-current assets 3'289 3'329

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 3'533'341 3'465'270

TOTAL ASSETS 6'361'964 6'660'940
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Consolidated statement of financial position

EURk Sep. 30, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

LIABILITIES 

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities 1'986'453 2'073'493

Lease liabilities 10'383 11'405

Derivative liability financial instruments 8'068 11'123

Trade payables 33'695 43'725

Tax liabilities 6'508 4'678

Deferred liabilities 30'757 28'734

Other current liabilities 76'483 55'601

Deferred lease payments 52'803 58'861

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 2'205'150 2'287'620

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities 2'746'593 3'003'670

Lease liabilities 26'321 31'542

Derivative liability financial instruments 2'985 9'661

Deferred tax liabilities 61'268 54'582

Pensions 5'281 4'867

Other non-current liabilities 0 2

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 2'842'448 3'104'324

EQUITY

Share capital 46'496 46'496

Capital reserves 298'019 298'019

Retained earnings 778'850 753'245

Other components of equity 18'558 1'735

TOTAL EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF  GRENKE AG 1'141'923 1'099'495

Additional equity components¹ 200'000 200'000

Non-controlling interests – 27'557 – 30'499

TOTAL EQUITY 1'314'366 1'268'996

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 6'361'964 6'660'940

1 Including AT1 bonds (hybrid capital), which are reported as equity under IFRS.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

EURk
Q1-Q3 
 2022

Q1-Q3 
 2021

NET PROFIT 61'791 52'374

NON-CASH ITEMS INCLUDED IN NET PROFIT AND RECONCILIATION TO CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

+ Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 24'087 22'526

- / + Profit / loss from the disposal of property, plant, and equipment and intangible assets 319 – 2

- / + Other non-cash income / expenses 44'513 29'013

+ / - Increase / decrease in deferred liabilities, provisions, and pensions 2'437 – 6'524

 = SUB-TOTAL 133'147 97'387

CHANGE IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES AFTER ADJUSTMENT FOR NON-CASH ITEMS

+ / - Lease receivables – 33'692 512'162

+ / - Loan receivables – 6'872 2'598

+ / - Factoring receivables 13'464 2'872

+ / - Other assets – 75'938 69'703

+ / - Financial liabilities – 347'683 – 561'217

+ / - Other liabilities – 4'302 6'109

+ Interest received 1'302 2'120

- Interest paid – 7'158 – 9'963

- Income taxes paid – 17'341 – 8'287

 = CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES – 345'073 113'484
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EURk
Q1-Q3 
 2022

Q1-Q3 
 2021

- Payments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets – 5'114 – 5'414

- Payments for the acquisition of subsidiaries – 274 0

- Payments for the acquisition of financial assets 0 – 75

+ Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 131 581

= CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES – 5'257 – 4'908

- Repayment of lease liabilities – 10'128 – 10'095

- Interest coupon payments on hybrid capital – 12'946 – 13'406

- Dividend payments to  GRENKE shareholders – 23'713 – 12'089

= CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES – 46'787 – 35'590

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 852'960 944'664

+ Cash flow from operating activities – 345'073 113'484

+ Cash flow from investing activities – 5'257 – 4'908

+ Cash flow from financing activities – 46'787 – 35'590

+ / - Change due to currency translation 124 – 602

= CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 455'967 1'017'048

Consolidated statement of cash flows
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

EURk
Share 

 capital
Capital 

reserves

Retained 
earnings/

Consolidat-
ed net profit

Hedging 
reserve

Reserve for 
actuarial 

gains/losses
Currency 

translation

Revaluation 
for equity 

instruments 
(IFRS 9)

Total equity 
attributable 

to share-
holders of 

 GRENKE AG 

Additional 
equity com-

ponents

Non-con-
trolling 

interests Total equity

EQUITY AS OF 
JAN. 1, 2022

46'496 298'019 753'245 – 39 – 577 5'576 – 3'225 1'099'495 200'000 – 30'499 1'268'996

Net profit 65'886 65'886 – 4'095 61'791

Other comprehensive 
income

12'107 4'716 16'823 – 813 16'010

TOTAL COMPRE-
HENSIVE INCOME

65'886 12'107 4'716 82'709 – 4'908 77'801

Dividend payment in 
2021 for 2020

– 23'713 – 23'713 – 23'713

Interest coupon 
payment for hybrid 
capital (net)

– 9'082 – 9'082

Interest coupon for 
hybrid capital (net)

– 9'082 – 9'082 9'082

Transactions with nci – 7'486 – 7'486 7'850 364

EQUITY AS OF  
SEP. 30, 2022

46'496 298'019 778'850 12'068 – 577 10'292 – 3'225 1'141'923 200'000 – 27'557 1'314'366

EQUITY AS OF 
JAN. 1, 2021

46'496 298'019 675'200 – 1'692 – 1'588 – 341 2'114 1'018'208 200'000 – 25'105 1'193'103

Net profit 57'338 57'338 – 4'964 52'374

Other comprehensive 
income

935 2'233 – 75 3'093 – 385 2'708

TOTAL COMPRE-
HENSIVE INCOME

57'338 935 2'233 – 75 60'431 – 5'349 55'082

Dividend payment in 
2020 for 2019

– 12'089 – 12'089 – 12'089

Interest coupon 
payment for hybrid 
capital (net)

– 9'404 – 9'404

Interest coupon for 
hybrid capital (net)

– 9'404 – 9'404 9'404

EQUITY AS OF  
SEP. 30, 2021

46'496 298'019 711'045 – 757 – 1'588 1'892 2'039 1'057'146 200'000 – 30'454 1'226'692
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1. General information
 GRENKE AG is a stock corporation with its registered 

office located at Neuer Markt 2, Baden-Baden, Ger-

many. The Company is recorded in the commercial 

register of the District Court of Mannheim, Section B, 

under HRB 201836. The subject matter of  GRENKE 

AG’s condensed interim consolidated financial state-

ments (“interim consolidated financial statements”) 

as of September 30, 2022, is  GRENKE AG, its sub-

sidiaries and consolidated structured entities (“the 

 GRENKE Group”). These interim consolidated finan-

cial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with the IFRSs applicable for interim reporting (IAS 34) 

as published by the International Accounting Stan-

dards Board (“IASB”) and adopted by the European 

Union (EU) into European law. These interim consoli-

dated financial statements should be read in conjunc-

tion with the IFRS consolidated financial statements 

as of December 31, 2021. An audit review by defini-

tion of Section 115 of the German Securities Trading 

Act (WpHG) was performed of the condensed inter-

im consolidated financial statements and the interim 

group management report as of September 30, 2022. 

2. Accounting policies
The accounting policies applied to the interim con-

solidated financial statements are generally the same 

as those applied in the previous year. Exceptions 

relate to changes resulting from the mandatory ap-

plication of new accounting standards discussed in 

the paragraphs below. Early application was waived 

for the amended standards and interpretations that 

will be mandatory in the 2023 financial year or later. 

 GRENKE AG will apply these standards to the consol-

idated financial statements at the time of their man-

datory application. This application is not expected to 

have any material impact on the reporting.

The same accounting and valuation methods apply 

to these interim financial statements as to the consol-

idated financial statements as of December 31, 2021, 

that we refer to here. We have furthermore added the 

following supplemental information.

2.1 First-time applicable, revised and new 
accounting standards

In the 2022 financial year, the  GRENKE Group takes 

into account all new and revised standards and in-

terpretations whose application was mandatory for 

the first time as of January 1, 2022 and those already 

adopted into European law (endorsement), provided 

they were relevant for the  GRENKE Group.

All of the following revised or amended standards had 

no or only an insignificant impact on the accounting 

and reporting of  GRENKE AG’s consolidated financial 

statements. 

Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations,” 

IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment,” IAS 37 

“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 

Assets” and Annual Improvements to IFRS 2018-

2020

The amendments to IFRS 3 update the reference to 

the IFRS framework. Similarly, IFRS 3 is amended to 

include a requirement for an acquirer to apply those 

requirements instead of the framework when identify-

ing obligations assumed within the scope of IAS 37 or 

IFRIC 21. The content of the rules for accounting for 

business combinations has not been changed. 

Under the amendment to IAS 16, entities will no lon-

ger be permitted to deduct revenue from the sale of 

goods produced from the cost of an item of proper-

ty, plant and equipment while this item of property, 

plant and equipment is being brought to the location 

and condition intended. Instead, this revenue is to be 

recognised in the income statement together with the 

cost of the property, plant and equipment.
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Notes to the condensed interim consolidated financial statements



The amendment to IAS 37 specifies which costs an 

entity should consider when assessing whether a 

contract is onerous or loss-making and focuses on 

costs that are directly related to the contract (directly 

related cost approach).

The annual improvements to the omnibus amend-

ment standard (2018-2020 cycle) relate to minor 

amendments to IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of IFRS”, 

the first-time adoption made by a subsidiary, an ac-

companying example to IFRS 16 “Leases”, the sig-

nificance of tax effects in determining fair value in IAS 

41 “Agriculture”, and IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” 

charges to be included in the 10-percent test for the 

derecognition of financial liabilities.

2.2 Application of IAS 29 “Financial Report-
ing in Hyperinflationary Economies”

Turkey has been classified as a hyperinflationary 

economy as defined by IAS 29 “Financial Reporting 

in Hyperinflationary Economies” since the second 

quarter of 2022. The business figures of the Turkish 

subsidiary, which are based on the historical cost 

concept, have therefore been adjusted for inflationary 

effects and stated in the measuring unit applicable as 

of the reporting date. Prior-year comparisons have 

not been restated. The consumer price index pub-

lished by the Turkish Statistical Institute (TURKSTAT) 

was used to adjust for inflation in the current financial 

year, the value of which was 1,021.2 as of September 

30, 2022 (September 30, 2021: 563.9). 

The effects of the application of IAS 29 and the profit 

or loss from the net position of monetary items have 

been of minor significance for the  GRENKE Group to 

date.

2.3 Accounting standards and interpreta-
tions already published but not yet imple-
mented

The IASB has published further amended standards 

and interpretations, the application of which will only 

become mandatory at a later date. The EU has al-

ready endorsed several of these standards. These 

standards expressly permit voluntary early applica-

tion.  GRENKE AG does not make use of this option. 

The standards will be applied to the consolidated 

financial statements at the time of mandatory appli-

cation. The amendments described below are not 

expected to have a material impact on the reporting 

in  GRENKE AG’s consolidated financial statements. 

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”

The new accounting standard IFRS 17 “Insurance 

Contracts”, published on May 18, 2017, will replace 

standard IFRS 4. On March 18, 2020, the IASB also 

decided to postpone the mandatory adoption of the 

standard to financial years beginning on or after Jan-

uary 1, 2023.

Amendment to IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” for 

the Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9: Com-

parative Information

With the amendment to IFRS 17, a transitional provi-

sion was established that optionally allows an alter-

native classification according to IFRS 9 for the com-

parative periods in the year of the initial application of 

both standards. For each financial asset for which the 

comparative period has not been adjusted to IFRS 9, 

the entity may apply the classification that would be 

used based on the information available at the tran-

sition date.

Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Finan-

cial Statements” and IFRS Practice Statement 2 

“Making Materiality Judgements”

The amendments to IAS 1 require entities to pres-

ent only their “material” accounting policies in the 

notes (instead of the previous requirement to pres-

ent “significant” accounting policies). To be material, 

3 7

G
R

E
N

K
E

 G
R

O
U

P
 

//
 

Q
U

A
R

T
E

R
L

Y
 S

T
A

T
E

M
E

N
T

 F
O

R
 Q

3
 A

N
D

 Q
1

 –
 Q

3
 2

0
2

2

G R O U P  K E Y 
F I G U R E S

I N T E R I M  G R O U P 
 M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

C O N D E N S E D  I N T E R I M  C O N S O L I D AT E D 
F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T

N O T E S  T O  T H E  C O N D E N S E D  I N T E R I M  
C O N S O L I D AT E D  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S

O T H E R 
 I N F O R M AT I O N

C O R P O R AT E  C A L E N D A R  & 
C O N TA C T



the accounting policy must be related to significant 

transactions or other events and be event-driven (for 

example, a change in method). The amendments 

are thus intended to help improve disclosures on 

accounting policies. The guidance in IFRS Practice 

Statement 2 has also been amended accordingly.

Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial 

Statements” to Clarify Classification of Liabilities

IAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or 

Non-Current” was published in January 2020. The 

amendments to IAS 1 clarify that the classification of 

liabilities as current or non-current should be based 

on the entity’s existing rights at the reporting date. 

On July 15, 2020, the IASB postponed the first-time 

application of the amendment by one year for fiscal 

years beginning on or after January 1, 2023. Adoption 

by the EU is still pending.

Amendments to IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, 

Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors”

The amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction be-

tween changes in accounting policies and changes 

in accounting estimates. The mandatory application 

of the amendment to the standard is effective for fi-

nancial years beginning on or after January 1, 2023. 

Amendment to IAS 12, “Income Taxes” Accounting 

for Deferred Taxes from a Single Transaction

According to the amendment to IAS 12, the scope of 

the exemption is adjusted so that no deferred tax as-

sets or liabilities need to be recognised at the date of 

the addition of an asset or liability. The amendments 

are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on 

or after January 1, 2023. Early application is permit-

ted.

Amendments to IFRS 16 “Leases” on the Sub-

sequent Measurement of a Lease Liability in the 

Event of a Sale and Leaseback Transaction

The amendments to IFRS 16 introduce to the stan-

dard interpretation issues of subsequent modifications 

in connection with the subsequent measurement of 

a lease liability in the event of a sale and leaseback 

transaction. Subject to EU endorsement, the regula-

tions are to be applied from January 1, 2024. Earlier 

application is permitted. Endorsement by the EU is 

still pending.

3. Use of assumptions and estimates
In preparing the interim consolidated financial state-

ments, assumptions and estimates have been made 

that affect the recognition and the reported amounts 

of assets, liabilities, income, expenses and contingent 

liabilities.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are sub-

ject to regular reviews. Changes to estimates are 

prospectively recognised and have occurred in the 

following areas.
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Determination of impairments for financial assets

The determination of impairment for financial assets is 

based on assumptions and estimates for default risks 

and expected loss rates. When making these assump-

tions and selecting the inputs for the calculation of im-

pairment, the Consolidated Group exercises discretion 

based on past experience, existing market conditions 

and forward-looking estimates at the end of each re-

porting period. The key assumptions and inputs used 

are presented in the section entitled “Accounting Pol-

icies”. In accordance with the announcements made 

by various regulators (ESMA, EBA), an assessment of 

the modelling of IFRS 9 impairment and the estimation 

of expected credit losses (ECL) is carried out. The ECL 

model, including the input parameters and submodels, 

is validated at least once a year or based on the occa-

sion and updated if necessary.

To determine risk provisions in accordance with IFRS 

9, expected credit defaults amid various macroeco-

nomic scenarios are weighted. For this purpose, 

 GRENKE calculates a negative, a positive and a 

baseline scenario.

The development of gross domestic product assumed 

for each scenario is shown in the following table:

Gross domestic 
product (in % vs. 
reporting date) Oct. 1, 2021 – Sept. 30, 2022 Oct. 1, 2022 – Sept. 30, 2023 Oct. 1, 2023 – Sept. 30, 2024

Negative Baseline Positive Negative Baseline Positive Negative Baseline Positive

Eurozone – 6.3% 1.8% 3.1% –4.6% 2.3% 5.0% –4.1% 3.1% 7.2% 

Germany – 4.6% 1.1% 2.4% –3.5% 0.9% 3.6% – 3.7% 1.0% 5.1% 

France – 8.0% 1.9% 3.3% –6.2% 2.6% 5.3% –5.6% 3.6% 7.7% 

Italy – 9.0% 1.3% 2.6% –7.9% 1.3% 4.0% –7.9% 1.5% 5.6% 

Spain – 10.8% 3.8% 5.2% –7.4% 6.5% 9.3% –5.0% 9.5% 13.8% 

United Kingdom – 9.3% 2.7% 4.1% –6.8% 4.3% 7.0% –5.4% 6.1% 103% 
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The amount of the risk provision on current lease re-

ceivables for each scenario is shown in the following 

table:

EURk

Scenarios

Negative Baseline Positive

Risk provision  106.221  92.717  88.478 

The assumptions underlying the baseline scenario 

are recurring but not permanent shortages of Russian 

gas supplies, the continuation of the Russia-Ukraine 

war, restrictions of public life during the winter due to 

the pandemic, and inflation remaining at an elevated 

level (well above 2 percent). Second- and third-round 

effects cause an increase in credit losses globally. The 

increase in default rates is roughly a quarter of the 

increase seen at the start of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

The size of the increase is derived from historical de-

fault rates in the recent financial and sovereign debt 

crisis.

The negative scenario assumes further significant 

bottlenecks in the economies heavily dependent on 

Russian gas and the continuation of the Russian war 

of aggression against Ukraine. The assumption is that 

this will lead to a further increase in the price of im-

ported energy commodities. In parallel, central banks 

continue to tighten monetary policy to combat ev-

er-increasing inflation rates, leading to a sharp decline 

in the propensity to invest in industry and a significant 

loss of purchasing power among private households. 

Additional Covid-19 lockdowns and resulting supply 

bottlenecks exacerbate these effects. Second- and 

third-round effects result in substantially higher credit 

losses globally. The increase in default rates is similar 

to that at the start of the Covid-19 pandemic

The positive scenario assumes that the Rus-

sia-Ukraine war continues. However, the lack of Rus-

sian gas supplies can be overcome through energy 

conservation measures and imports of liquefied natu-

ral gas. Assuming that the Covid-19 pandemic does 

not restrict public and economic life in any way, infla-

tion declines moderately. Policy measures support the 

loss of purchasing power in households and prevent 

a sharp decline in the propensity to invest in industry. 

Accordingly, default rates return to pre-Covid levels.

Various minimum default rates (floors) are taken into 

account in all scenarios. Sharply declining default 

rates can currently be observed in the  GRENKE port-

folio, especially compared to the pre-Covid level. De-

spite this, the increase in default rates in all scenarios 

is applied to the default rate level prior to the Covid-19 

pandemic. The effect of the present sharp decline in 

default rates is therefore not considered. 

The probability of the negative scenario is weighted at 

approximately 33.7 percent as of September 30, 2022 

(compared with 5 percent as of December 31, 2021), 

while the positive scenario is weighted at only 1.5 per-

cent (compared with 12 percent as of December 31, 

2021). The scenario weightings are derived from pub-

lic data provided by the ECB. The latter establishes a 

probability distribution for GDP for the years 2022 to 

2024 by surveying various analysts. These probability 

distributions enable the calculation of probabilities of  
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occurrence for individual scenarios. The GDP fore-

casts published by the ECB on July 22, 2022 were 

revised downward by 1 percent to take into account 

negative developments between the publication date 

of the forecast and the reporting date.

Due to the higher economic uncertainty, various sen-

sitivity analyses were additionally performed for GDP 

and the internal floors. The post-model adjustments 

made take into account the higher economic uncer-

tainty based on these sensitivity analyses.

As a result, in addition to the risk provision deter-

mined based on the existing IFRS 9 model, which 

takes into account updated parameters to reflect 

the macroeconomic environment, post-model ad-

justments were also recognised. An adjustment for 

all current lease contracts of EUR 23,326k was rec-

ognised to cover the additional uncertainty for the 

 GRENKE Group arising from Russia’s war against 

Ukraine. This does not affect the corona-related 

post-model adjustment of EUR 54,991k recognised 

as of the reporting date. This post-model adjustment 

was determined through a correction of the recovery 

effects taken into account in the IFRS 9 model by 

recognising additional risk provisions for contracts 

that were deferred in the past due to corona. These 

post-model adjustments also cover the possible 

consequences for the  GRENKE Group from a reces-

sion, supply and energy bottlenecks, and inflation.

Use of calculated residual values at the end of the 

lease term to determine the present value of lease 

receivables 

Non-guaranteed (calculated) residual values are tak-

en into account when determining the present value 

of lease receivables as defined in IFRS 16. The cal-

culated residual values at the end of the lease term 

are determined depending on the maturity group of 

the respective lease and include the expected sub-

sequent business at the end of the term, based on 

historical experience. For additions since January 1, 

2022, they amount to between 1.0 and 25.0 percent 

of the acquisition cost (previous year: between 1.0 

and 25.5  percent since January 1, 2021). The cal-

culated residual values are applied based on statisti-

cal analyses as part of a best estimate. In the event 

of a decrease in the proceeds actually achievable in 

the post-leasing business (consisting of disposal and 

post-leasing), impairment of the lease receivables is 

taken into account, whereas an increase is not taken 

into account.

Assumptions made in the context of the impair-

ment tests in the measurement of existing good-

will

The cash flows used to measure goodwill under the 

discounted cash flow method are based on current 

business plans and internal plans. This involved making 

assumptions as to the future development of income 

and expenses. Assumptions as to the future growth 

rates of the respective cash-generating unit were made 

on the basis of historical figures and past income and 

expense patterns that were projected into the future. 

These estimates and the underlying methodology may 

have a significant impact on the values determined. The 

overall economic environment and thus the estimates 

regarding the further new business and return develop-

ments of the cash-generating units are associated with 

additional uncertainties. If significant assumptions differ 

from actual figures, impairments may have to be made 

in the future in profit and loss.

The  GRENKE Group assessed whether there was any 

indication of impairment of the recognised goodwill as 

of the reporting date. The underlying cash flow pro-

jections reflect the best possible estimates of the fur-

ther development of the macroeconomic environment 

and the respective cash-generating unit, applying the 

discount rates that had increased significantly as of 

the reporting date. 
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With regard to the effects on the balance sheet as 

of the reporting date, please refer to our comments 

under Note 11, “Impairment of goodwill”. Further 

increases in discount rates could lead to additional 

impairments recognised in profit or loss in future re-

porting periods.

Recognition of lease assets for sale at calculated 

residual values

The measurement of lease assets for sale is based on 

the average sales proceeds per age category realised 

in the past financial year in relation to the original ac-

quisition cost. Lease assets for sale are measured at 

historical residual values, taking their actual saleability 

into account. The residual values recognised as of the 

reporting date were between 2.4 and 19.5  percent 

(previous year: between 2.2 and 15.7 percent) of the 

original acquisition costs. If a sale is considered un-

likely due to the condition of the asset, the asset is 

impaired in profit and loss.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabili-

ties, not derived from information on active markets, 

are determined using valuation models. The input 

parameters of these models are based on observ-

able market data, if possible. If this is not possible, 

determining fair values requires a certain degree of 

judgement. This judgement relates to input param-

eters such as liquidity risk, credit risk, and volatility. 

Changes regarding the assumptions of these input 

parameters may have an effect on the recognised fair 

value of financial instruments. If observable prices and 

parameters are available, they are used to determine 

the fair value that in turn avoids the large-scale use of 

estimates.

Recognition and measurement of deferred taxes 

on tax-loss carryforwards 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax-

loss carryforwards to the extent to which it is likely 

that taxable income will be available. This means that 

the tax-loss carryforwards may, in fact, be used. De-

termining the amount of the deferred tax assets re-

quires considerable use of judgement on the part of 

the management with regard to the expected occur-

rence and level of the future taxable income, as well 

as to the future tax planning strategies.

Recognition and measurement of actual tax as-

sets and tax liabilities

Due to the complexity of tax legislation, taxpayers and 

local tax authorities may have varying constructions 

and interpretations of the tax laws. This can lead to 

subsequent tax payments for prior financial years. 

Tax provisions are recognised in the event that the 

amounts stated in the tax declarations are not like-

ly to be realised (uncertain tax items). The amount is 

determined from the best estimate of the anticipated 

tax payment. Tax receivables from uncertain tax items 

are recognised when probable and when adequate-

ly ensured they can be realised. The assumptions 

are based on the management’s assessment of the 

amount of uncertain tax items. 
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We refer to the accounting policies described in the 

notes to the consolidated financial statements as of 

December 31, 2021.

4. Lease receivables
The following overview shows the development of 

lease receivables:

EURk
Sep. 30, 

2022
Dec. 31, 

2021

CHANGES IN LEASE 
RECEIVABLES FROM CUR-
RENT CONTRACTS

RECEIVABLES AT BEGIN-
NING OF PERIOD

5'093'885 5'614'509

+ Change during the period 94'708 – 520'624

LEASE RECEIVABLES 
(CURRENT + NON-CUR-
RENT) FROM CURRENT 
CONTRACTS AT END OF 
PERIOD

5'188'593 5'093'885

CHANGES IN LEASE 
RECEIVABLES FROM 
TERMINATED CONTRACTS/ 
CONTRACTS IN ARREARS

GROSS RECEIVABLES AT 
BEGINNING OF PERIOD

563'763 525'869

+ Additions to gross receiv-
ables during the period

10'804 118'108

– Disposals of gross receiv-
ables during the period

47'503 80'214

GROSS RECEIVABLES AT 
END OF PERIOD

527'064 563'763

TOTAL GROSS RECEIV-
ABLES (CURRENT AND 
TERMINATED)

5'715'657 5'657'648

IMPAIRMENT AT BEGIN-
NING OF PERIOD

538'676 504'086

+ Additions of accumulated 
impairment during the period

24'317 34'590

IMPAIRMENT AT END OF 
PERIOD

562'993 538'676

Lease receivables (carry-
ing amount, current and 
non-current) at beginning of 
period

5'118'972 5'636'292

LEASE RECEIVABLES 
(CARRYING AMOUNT, 
CURRENT AND NON- 
CURRENT) AT END OF 
PERIOD

5'152'664 5'118'972
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The overview below shows the gross amount of lease 

receivables and their impairment recognised accord-

ing to the IFRS 9 impairment level. The  GRENKE 

Group does not have any financial instruments classi-

fied as POCI as defined by IFRS 9.

Sep. 30, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021

EURk Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Total

GROSS LEASE RECEIVABLES

Germany 1'115'914 51'008 42'436 1'209'358 1'202'433

France 1'039'986 79'148 119'417 1'238'551 1'218'574

Italy 739'273 95'768 182'533 1'017'574 1'095'404

Other countries 1'831'209 144'669 274'296 2'250'174 2'141'237

TOTAL GROSS LEASE RECEIVABLES 4'726'382 370'593 618'682 5'715'657 5'657'648

Impairment 54'997 50'614 457'382 562'993 538'676

CARRYING AMOUNT 4'671'385 319'979 161'300 5'152'664 5'118'972
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The following overview shows changes in the impair-

ment of current and non-current lease receivables:

Sep. 30, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021

EURk Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Total

IMPAIRMENT AT START OF PERIOD 45'416 51'070 442'190 538'676 504'086

Newly extended or acquired financial assets* 18'342 6'807 13'327 38'476 31'779

Reclassifications

to Level 1 3'513 – 2'061 – 1'452 0 0

to Level 2 – 2'069 8'929 – 6'860 0 0

to Level 3 – 1'438 – 5'632 7'070 0 0

Change in risk provision due to change in level – 2'937 1'903 40'866 39'832 40'361

Mutual contract dissolution or payment for financial assets (without derecognition) – 15'291 – 10'668 – 20'368 – 46'327 – 68'181

Change in contractual cash flows due to modification (no derecognition) 0 0 0 0 – 41'506

Change in category in processing losses 0 0 9'856 9'856 43'552

Change in models/risk parameters used in ECL calculation 5'881 – 2'044 9'729 13'566 83'489

Derecognition of financial assets – 14 – 138 – 40'323 – 40'475 – 68'093

Currency translation and other differences 264 15 1'579 1'858 1'655

Accrued interest 3'330 2'433 1'768 7'531 11'534

IMPAIRMENT AT END OF PERIOD 54'997 50'614 457'382 562'993 538'676

thereof impairment on non-performing lease receivables 0 0 430'336 430'336 421'704

thereof impairment on performing lease receivables 54'997 50'614 27'046 132'657 116'972

*  The values stated in Levels 2 and 3 relate to lease receivables newly extended in the financial year that were allocared at their time of acquisition to Level 1 but reallocated to another level during the financial year.

4 5

G
R

E
N

K
E

 G
R

O
U

P
 

//
 

Q
U

A
R

T
E

R
L

Y
 S

T
A

T
E

M
E

N
T

 F
O

R
 Q

3
 A

N
D

 Q
1

 –
 Q

3
 2

0
2

2

G R O U P  K E Y 
F I G U R E S

I N T E R I M  G R O U P 
 M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

C O N D E N S E D  I N T E R I M  C O N S O L I D AT E D 
F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T

N O T E S  T O  T H E  C O N D E N S E D  I N T E R I M  
C O N S O L I D AT E D  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S

O T H E R 
 I N F O R M AT I O N

C O R P O R AT E  C A L E N D A R  & 
C O N TA C T



As a supplement to the cash flow statement, the fol-

lowing shows the cash flows related to lease receiv-

ables:

EURk
Q1-Q3 
 2022

Q1-Q3 
 2021

Payments by lessees 1'731'959 1'757'581

Interest and similar income 
from the leasing business

– 297'123 – 313'767

Additions of lease receiv-
ables / net investments

– 1'692'884 – 1'172'413

SUB-TOTAL – 258'048 271'401

Disposals / reclassifications 
of lease receivables at resid-
ual carrying amounts 

168'950 275'839

Decrease / increase in other 
receivables from lessees

61'015 – 18'322

Currency translation 
 differences

– 5'609 – 16'756

CHANGE IN LEASE 
 RECEIVABLES

– 33'692 512'162

5. Financial liabilities
The  GRENKE Group’s financial liabilities consist of 

current and non-current financial liabilities.

EURk
Sep. 30, 

2022
Dec. 31, 

2021

CURRENT FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES

Asset-backed 383'349 355'795

Senior unsecured 810'382 764'470

Committed development 
loans

63'034 74'753

Liabilities from deposit 
business

726'011 878'364

Other bank liabilities 3'677 111

thereof current account 
liabilities

3'677 111

TOTAL CURRENT 
 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

1'986'453 2'073'493

NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES

Asset-backed 536'817 353'664

Senior unsecured 1'888'387 2'044'017

Committed development 
loans

23'586 72'384

Liabilities from deposit 
business

297'803 533'605

TOTAL NON-CURRENT 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

2'746'593 3'003'670

TOTAL FINANCIAL 
 LIABILITIES

4'733'046 5'077'163

5.1 Asset-backed financial liabilities

5.1.1 Structured entities

The following consolidated structured entities were 

in place as of the reporting date: Opusalpha Pur-

chaser II Limited (Helaba), Kebnekaise Funding Lim-

ited (SEB AB), CORAL Purchasing (Ireland) 2 DAC 

(DZ Bank), FCT “GK”-COMPARTMENT “G2” (Uni-

credit), FCT “GK”-COMPARTMENT “G3” (HSBC), 

FCT “GK”-COMPARTMENT “G4” (Helaba) and FCT 

“GK”-COMPARTMENT “G5” (DZ Bank). All structured 

entities have been set up as asset-backed commer-

cial paper (ABCP) programmes.

EURk
Sep. 30, 

2022
Dec. 31, 

2021

Programme volume in local 
currency

EURk 1'097'802 947'802

GBPk 150'000 150'000

Programme volume in EURk 1'267'677 1'126'314

Utilisation in EURk 931'780 692'243

Carrying amount in EURk 803'901 602'451

thereof current 334'358 296'539

thereof non-current 469'543 305'912
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5.1.2 Sales of receivables agreements

EURk
Sep. 30, 

2022
Dec. 31, 

2021

Programme volume in local 
currency

EURk 16'500 16'500

GBPk 90'000 90'000

BRLk 210'000 210'000

Programme volume in EURk 158'361 156'887

Utilisation in EURk 123'949 106'955

Carrying amount in EURk 116'242 106'955

thereof current 48'970 59'222

thereof non-current 67'272 47'733

5.1.3 Residual loans

Residual loans are partly used to finance the residual 

values of lease agreements in which the instalments 

were sold as part of the sale of receivables.

EURk
Sep. 30, 

2022
Dec. 31, 

2021

Carrying amount 23 53

thereof current 21 34

thereof non-current 2 19

5.2 Senior unsecured financial liabilities

The following table provides an overview of the carry-

ing amounts of the individual refinancing instruments:

EURk
Sep. 30, 

2022
Dec. 31, 

2021

Bonds 2'300'513 2'459'008

thereof current 482'965 527'645

thereof non-current 1'817'548 1'931'363

Promissory notes 134'278 131'944

thereof current 68'802 32'738

thereof non-current 65'476 99'206

Commercial paper 60'000 0

Revolving credit facility 165'636 175'110

thereof current 160'273 161'662

thereof non-current 5'363 13'448

Overdrafts 17'657 20'205

Accrued interest 20'685 22'220

The following table provides an overview of the refi-

nancing volumes of the individual instruments:

EURk
Sep. 30, 

2022
Dec. 31, 

2021

Bonds EURk 5'000'000 5'000'000

Commercial paper EURk 750'000 750'000

Syndicated revolving credit 
facility EURk

250'000 250'000

Revolving credit facility EURk 30'000 30'000

Revolving credit facility PLNk 150'000 150'000

Revolving Credit Facility 
CLPk

20'250'000 20'250'000

Revolving credit facility 
HRKk

125'000 125'000

Revolving credit facility HUFk 350'000 0

Money market trading EURk 20'000 0
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5.2.1 Bonds

One new bond with a nominal volume of EUR 150,000k 

has been issued to date in the financial year. A total 

of EUR 310,000k and JPY 1,000,000k was repaid as 

scheduled.

5.2.2 Promissory notes

Two new promissory notes with a nominal volume of 

EUR 10,000k and CHF 20,000k were issued in the 

current financial year. Scheduled repayments includ-

ed EUR  20,000k, DKK 20,000k, CHF 10,000k and 

BRL 1,952k.

5.2.3 Commercial paper

Three commercial papers with a total volume of 

EUR 70,000k have been issued so far in the current 

financial year. One scheduled repayment was made in 

the amount of EUR 10,000k.

5.2.4 Revolving credit facility

One new revolving credit facility with a volume of HUF 

350,000k was concluded in the current financial year 

and offers GF Faktor Zrt. the option to borrow funds at 

short notice at any time for a term of up to six months. 

The lender is Deutsche Bank AG Hungary Branch.

5.2.5 Money market facility 

An uncommitted money market facility available to 

 GRENKE FINANCE PLC, Dublin/Ireland totalling 

EUR 20,000k was concluded in the current financial 

year with Landesbank Hessen-Thüringen.

5.3 Committed development loans

The following table shows the carrying amounts of the 

utilised development loans at different development 

banks:

EURk
Sep. 30, 

2022
Dec. 31, 

2021

Europäische Investitionsbank 9'895 9'846

NRW Bank 11'997 29'029

Thüringer Aufbaubank 1'264 2'112

Investitionsbank des  
Landes Brandenburg

0 417

KfW 62'852 104'842

Landeskreditbank 
Baden-Württemberg

612 891

TOTAL DEVELOPMENT 
LOANS

86'620 147'137
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5.4 Supplementary disclosures on financial 
liabilities in the statement of cash flows

As a supplement to the cash flow statement, the fol-

lowing shows the cash flows related to the financial 

liabilities:

EURk
Q1-Q3 
 2022

Q1-Q3 
 2021

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Additions of liabilities / 
assumption of new liabilities 
from refinancing

1'282'888 468'587

Interest expenses from 
refinancing

42'184 35'282

Payment / repayment of 
liabilities to refinancers

– 1'295'918 – 1'056'690

Currency translation  
differences 

11'318 11'575

CHANGE IN LIABILITIES 
FROM REFINANCING

40'472 – 541'246

Additions / repayment of 
liabilities from the deposit 
business

– 393'451 – 28'260

Interest expenses from  
the deposit business

5'296 8'289

CHANGE IN LIABILITIES 
FROM THE DEPOSIT 
BUSINESS

– 388'155 – 19'971

CHANGE IN FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES 

– 347'683 – 561'217

6. Equity
 GRENKE AG’s share capital remained unchanged 

compared to December 31, 2021  and continues to 

be divided into 46'495'573 registered shares.
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7. Disclosures on financial instruments
7.1 Fair value hierarchy

The  GRENKE Group uses observable market data to 

the extent possible for determining the fair value of 

an asset or a liability. The fair values are assigned to 

different levels of the valuation hierarchy based on the 

input parameters used in the valuation methods:

Level 1:  Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active mar-

kets for identical assets or liabilities 

Level 2:  Measurement procedures in which all input 

factors having a significant effect on the rec-

ognition of fair value are directly or indirectly 

observable in the market

Level 3:  Measurement procedures that use input 

factors that have a significant effect on the 

fair value recognised and are not based on 

observable market data

If the input factors used to determine the fair value of 

an asset or a liability may be assigned to different lev-

els of the valuation hierarchy, then the measurement 

at fair value is completely assigned to that level in the 

valuation hierarchy which corresponds to the lowest 

input factor that is material for the overall measure-

ment.

The  GRENKE Group recognises reclassifications be-

tween the different levels of the valuation hierarchy at 

the end of the reporting period in which the change 

has occurred. In the reporting period, there were no 

reclassifications between the three levels of the valu-

ation hierarchy.

7.2 Fair value of financial instruments

7.2.1 Fair value of primary financial instruments

The following table presents the carrying amounts 

and fair values of financial assets and financial liabil-

ities by category of financial instruments that are not 

measured at fair value. This table does not contain 

information on the fair value of financial assets and fi-

nancial liabilities when the carrying amount represents 

an appropriate approximation to the fair value, which 

includes the following line items of the statement of 

financial position: cash and cash equivalents, trade 

receivables, and trade payables. 

All primary financial instruments are assigned to Level 

2 of the valuation hierarchy except for exchange-list-

ed bonds that are included in refinancing liabilities and 

which are assigned to Level 1 of the valuation hierar-

chy and the other investment that is assigned to Lev-

el 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The carrying amount 

and fair value of the exchange-listed bonds as of the 

reporting date were EUR 2,300,513k (December 31, 

2021: EUR  2,459,008k) and EUR  2,123,642k (De-

cember 31, 2021: EUR 2,427,015k), respectively. All 

primary financial assets are allocated to the “At am-

ortised cost” (AC) measurement category except for 

lease receivables, which are measured according to 

IFRS 16, and other investments, which are assigned 
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to the category FVOCIoR (Fair Value through Other 

Comprehensive Income without Recycling pursuant 

to IFRS 9) and measured at fair value. Financial liabili-

ties are also measured at (amortised) cost.

EURk
Fair value 

Sep. 30, 2022

Carrying 
amount Sep. 

30, 2022
Fair value 

Dec. 31, 2021

Carrying 
amount Dec. 

31, 2021

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Lease receivables 5'746'293 5'152'664 5'714'078 5'118'972

Other financial assets 290'167 287'701 277'904 266'178

thereof receivables from the lending business 133'057 130'591 149'189 137'463

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities 4'537'066 4'733'046 5'067'695 5'077'163

thereof refinancing liabilities 3'517'782 3'705'555 3'635'882 3'665'083

thereof liabilities from the deposit business 1'015'607 1'023'814 1'431'702 1'411'969
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7.2.2 Fair value of derivative financial instruments

At the end of the reporting period, all derivative fi-

nancial instruments, which include interest rate deriv-

atives (interest rate swaps), forward exchange con-

tracts and cross-currency swaps, are carried at fair 

value in the  GRENKE Group. All derivative financial 

instruments are assigned to Level 2 of the valuation 

hierarchy.

EURk

Fair value 
Sep. 30, 

2022

Fair value 
Dec. 31, 

2021

FINANCIAL ASSETS

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS WITH 
HEDGING RELATIONSHIP 

Interest rate derivatives 3'424 0

Cross-currency swaps 14'938 851

Forward exchange  
derivatives

4'415 468

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS WITHOUT 
HEDGING RELATIONSHIP

Interest rate derivatives 14'600 1'130

Forward exchange  
derivatives

4'626 7'760

TOTAL 42'003 10'209

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS WITH 
HEDGING RELATIONSHIP 

Cross-currency swaps 497 7'987

Forward exchange  
derivatives

4'930 8'394

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS WITHOUT 
HEDGING RELATIONSHIP

Interest rate derivatives 0 387

Forward exchange  
derivatives

5'626 4'016

TOTAL 11'053 20'784

The  GRENKE Group uses so-called OTC derivatives 

(“over the counter”). These are directly concluded 

with counterparties having at least investment grade 

status. There are no quoted market prices available 

for these instruments.

Fair values are determined based on valuation mod-

els that include observable input parameters. Forward 

exchange contracts are measured on the basis of a 

mark-to-market valuation model. The fair value of in-

terest rate derivatives is determined based on the net 

present value method. The input parameters applied 

are derived from market quotes. Interest rates with 

matching maturities in the traded currencies are used 

for forward exchange contracts, and interest rates are 

used for interest rate derivatives. To obtain the fair val-

ue of such OTC derivatives, the determined amounts 

are multiplied with the counterparty’s credit default 

swaps (CDS) with coupons that are observable on 

the market, or with their own credit risk using what is 

known as the “add-on method”.
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7.3 Measurement methods and input fac-
tors used

The following table shows the valuation methods ap-

plied and the input factors and assumptions used to 

measure the fair values:

Category and Level Input factors

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY LEVEL 1

Listed bonds n.a. Quoted market price on active market as of the reporting date

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY LEVEL 2

Other financial assets Present value of estimated future cash flows Available interest rates at comparable conditions 
and residual terms using the counterparty’s 
credit risk

Financial liabilities (liabilities refinancing of lease receivables, 
promissory notes and bank liabilities)

Present value of estimated future cash flows Available interest rates at comparable conditions 
and residual terms using the own credit 
risk (Debt Value Adjustment [DVA])

Forward currency contracts / Cross-currency-swaps Mark-to-market 
Present value of estimated future cash flows

Available interest rates at the end of the term in 
the traded currencies using the own counterparty 
risk (Debt Value Adjustment [DVA]) 
or the counterparty’s credit risk (Credit Value 
Adjustment [CVA]) derived from available credit 
default swap (CDS) quotes

Interest rate derivatives Present value of estimated future cash flows Available interest rates at comparable 
conditions and residual terms using the own 
counterparty risk DVA (Debt Value Adjustment) 
or the counterparty’s credit risk CVA (Credit 
Value Adjustment) derived from available credit 
default swap (CDS) quotes

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY LEVEL 3

Other investments (investment in Finanzchef24 GmbH) Discounted cash flow model 
Present value of estimated future cash flows

Business plan of Finanzchef24 GmbH to determine 
future cash flows; sustainable growth rate 
of future cash flows; parameters to determine 
the discount rate (in particular, risk-free interest 
rate, market risk premium, beta factor, adjustment 
factors) 5 3
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8. Revenue from contracts with customers
The following table shows the revenue from contracts 

with customers (IFRS 15):

EURk
Seg-
ment

Q1-Q3 
 2022

Q1-Q3 
 2021

REVENUE FROM 
CONTRACTS 
WITH CUSTOM-
ERS (IFRS 15)

Gross revenue 
from service 
and protection 
business (service 
business)

Leasing 96'223 94'212

Service fee for 
making lease 
assets available 
for use

Leasing 4'567 2'757

Revenue from 
reminder fees

Leasing 888 756

Revenue from 
reminder fees

Factor-
ing

11 12

Other revenue 
from lessees

Leasing 766 816

Disposal of lease 
assets

Leasing 133'286 123'681

Commission 
income from 
banking business

Bank 438 344

TOTAL 236'179 222'578

9. Income and other revenue
The following shows the revenue from contracts  

with customers (IFRS 15) and other revenue (IFRS 9, 

IFRS 16):

TEUR
Q1-Q3 
 2022

Q1-Q3 
 2021

REVENUE FROM  
CONTRACTS WITH  
CUSTOMERS (IFRS 15)

236'179 222'578

OTHER REVENUE  
(IFRS 9, IFRS 16)

Interest and similar income 
from financing business

308'500 324'023

Revenue from operating 
leases

16'724 15'998

Portions of revenue from 
lease down payments

7'272 5'465

TOTAL 568'675 568'064

10. Income taxes
The main components of the income tax expense for 

the consolidated income statement are the following:

EURk
Q1-Q3 
 2022

Q1-Q3 
 2021

Current taxes 15'487 21'187

Corporate and trade taxes 
(Germany)

106 84

Foreign income taxes 15'381 21'103

Deferred taxes 5'973 – 5'742

Germany – 1'613 2'560

International 7'586 – 8'302

TOTAL 21'460 15'445
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11. Goodwill impairment
As at the reporting date, the GRENKE Group exam-

ined whether there was any indication of goodwill 

impairment. In doing so, GRENKE performed an 

event-triggered impairment test for the goodwill of the 

cash-generating unit Portugal in the third quarter of 

financial year 2022. The outcome resulted in an im-

pairment of goodwill reducing it from EUR 26,472k 

to EUR 22,472k. The impairment loss of EUR 4,000k 

was determined on the basis of the value in use and 

is included in the item “Depreciation, amortisation and 

impairment” on the consolidated income statement. 

The cause of the impairment is a year-on-year in-

crease from 10.8 percent to 13.5 percent as of the re-

porting date in the discount rate used for discounting 

the cash flows and, specifically, in the base interest 

rate used in the calculation of the discount rate from 

0.2 percent to 2.1 percent.

The recoverable amount of the Portugal cash-gen-

erating unit, which represents the Portuguese leas-

ing business, amounted to EUR  35,334k (previous 

year: EUR  47,670k). The measurement was based 

on calendar-year new business growth rates of 8.0 to 

14.4 percent in the five-year detailed planning phase 

(previous year, including corona-related catch-up ef-

fects: 10.0 to 15.0 percent) and a growth rate in the 

ramp-up phase and perpetuity of 1.0  percent (pre-

vious year: 1.0  percent). No intangible assets with 

indefinite useful lives are allocated to the Portugal 

cash-generating unit. The impairment loss was allo-

cated to the Leasing segment.

For further information on the key assumptions re-

garding the parameters used and the calculation 

approach, as well as the cash flow planning meth-

odology, please refer to notes 3.8 and 5.7 in the con-

solidated financial statements as of December 31, 

2021.
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12. Investment in finux GmbH
12.1 Impairment of shares in finux GmbH

Due to the objective indications of an impairment on 

the net investment, the  GRENKE Group performed an 

extraordinary impairment test for the carrying amount 

of the shares in finux GmbH (Kassel/Germany) as of 

June 30, 2022. The business purpose of the investee 

is the development and distribution of financial soft-

ware for liquidity and payment management.

The investment of 30.04  percent held via  GRENKE 

digital GmbH and accounted for using the equity 

method was fully impaired. The impairment loss of 

EUR 158k determined on the basis of fair value less 

costs to sell is reported in the item “Depreciation, am-

ortisation and impairment” on the income statement. 

The reason for the impairment, which was allocated 

to the Leasing segment, was a deterioration in growth 

expectations and return prospects.

12.2 Classification of shares in finux GmbH 
as “held for sale”

The investment in finux GmbH (Kassel/Germany) al-

located to the Leasing segment met the criteria of  

IFRS 5 as an investment held for sale as of September 

30, 2022. The planned disposal of all shares through 

the sale to a co-shareholder due to the economic sit-

uation of finux GmbH took place in the fourth quarter 

of 2022.

The investment reported in the consolidated state-

ment of financial position was already fully impaired to 

EUR 0k in the second quarter of 2022. The expenses 

recognised in the consolidated income statement are 

allocated to the items “Investments accounted for us-

ing the equity method” (EUR 4k) and “Depreciation, 

amortisation and impairment” (EUR 158k).
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13. Group segment reporting
EURk Leasing Segment Bank Segment Factoring Segment Consolidation & Other Consolidated Group

January to September  2022  2021  2022  2021  2022  2021  2022  2021  2022  2021

OPERATING INCOME

External operating income 290'879 274'327 – 12'658 – 8'982 6'106 3'277 0 0 284'327 268'622

Internal operating income – 36'655 – 43'024 38'042 43'887 – 1'387 – 863 0 0 0 0

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME 254'224 231'303 25'384 34'905 4'719 2'414 0 0 284'327 268'622

thereof non-cash items 23'501 50'090 10'825 3'034 – 274 3'085 0 0 34'052 56'209

NON-INTEREST EXPENSES

Staff costs 96'861 87'736 5'435 4'087 4'118 4'090 – 166 – 421 106'248 95'492

Depreciation/amortisation and impairment 23'495 21'864 687 664 564 701 – 659 – 703 24'087 22'526

Selling and administrative expenses 65'171 63'051 8'021 6'388 2'210 1'567 – 2'427 – 1'797 72'975 69'209

SEGMENT RESULT 77'110 67'814 – 515 11'462 – 1'480 – 4'255 – 167 – 54 74'948 74'967

Result from companies accounted for using 
the equity method

– 4 – 149 0 – 260 0 0 0 0 – 4 – 409

Other financial result 8'307 – 6'739 8'307 – 6'739

EARNINGS BEFORE TAXES ACCORDING 
TO CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

77'106 67'665 – 515 11'202 – 1'480 – 4'255 8'140 – 6'793 83'251 67'819

As of September 30 (December 31, 2021)

SEGMENT ASSETS 6'029'756 6'009'505 1'541'649 2'031'998 98'885 84'235 – 1'351'957 – 1'501'645 6'318'333 6'624'093

thereof investments accounted for using the 
equity method

0 162 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 162

SEGMENT LIABILITIES 4'886'875 4'924'312 1'266'403 1'747'474 98'702 86'990 – 1'272'158 – 1'426'092 4'979'822 5'332'684
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13.1 Business segments

 GRENKE Group’s reporting on the development of its 

segments is aligned with the prevailing organisational 

structure within the  GRENKE Group (“management 

approach”). Thus, operating segments are divided 

into Leasing, Banking, and Factoring based on the 

management of the Company’s segments, which en-

ables the key decision-maker, the Board of Directors 

of  GRENKE AG, to assess the performance of the 

segments and make decisions about the allocation 

of resources to the segments. A regional breakdown 

of the business activities is provided annually in the 

 GRENKE Group’s consolidated financial statements 

of the respective financial year. Separate financial 

information is available for the three operating seg-

ments.

In the segment reporting, intra-Group transactions 

between the segments are eliminated in the column 

"Consolidation and other".

13.2 Reportable segments

13.2.1 Leasing

The Leasing segment contains all of the activities that 

are related to the Consolidated Group’s business as 

a lessor. The services offered consist of the provision 

of financing to commercial lessees, rental, service, 

protection and maintenance offerings, as well as the 

disposal of used equipment.

The  GRENKE Group’s leasing business focuses pri-

marily on the small-ticket leasing of IT products, such 

as PCs, notebooks, servers, monitors, peripheral de-

vices, software, telecommunication and copier equip-

ment, medical devices as well as other IT products. 

Nearly all leases concluded provide for full cost re-

covery.

13.2.2 Banking

The Banking segment comprises the activities of 

 GRENKE BANK AG ( GRENKE Bank) as a financing 

partner, particularly to small and medium-sized com-

panies (SMEs). In the context of cooperating with a 

variety of federal government and state development 

banks,  GRENKE Bank offers business start-up fi-

nancing. In addition,  GRENKE Bank provides devel-

opment loans to SMEs and self-employed profes-

sionals who want to finance new business purchases 

through lease financing.  GRENKE Bank also offers in-

vestment products, such as fixed deposit products to 

private and business customers via its website. The 

bank’s business is focused primarily on German cus-

tomers. In addition to business with external custom-

ers,  GRENKE BANK AG’s activities also include the 

internal refinancing of the  GRENKE Group’s Leasing 

segment through the purchase of receivables and the 

issuance of loans.
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13.2.3 Factoring

In the Factoring segment,  GRENKE offers traditional 

factoring services with a focus on small-ticket factor-

ing. Within non-recourse factoring, the segment offers 

both notification factoring, where the debtor is notified 

of the assignment of receivables, and non-notification 

factoring, where the debtor is not notified accordingly. 

In addition, the segment also offers receivables man-

agement without a financing function (non-recourse 

factoring); where the customer continues to bear the 

credit risk. Internal operating income results largely 

from internal refinancing.

13.3 Segment data

The accounting policies employed to gather segment 

information are the same as those used for the interim 

consolidated financial statements. Intragroup trans-

actions are performed at standard market prices. 

The Board of Directors of  GRENKE AG is the re-

sponsible body for assessing the performance of the 

 GRENKE Group. In addition to the growth of new 

business in the Leasing segment (total acquisition 

costs of newly acquired leased assets), the Board 

of Directors has determined the deposit volume for 

 GRENKE Bank and the gross margin for the Factoring 

segment as key performance indicators. Other mea-

sures include operating segment income, non-inter-

est expenses, segment result before other financial 

result, as well as staff costs, selling and administrative 

expenses, and depreciation and amortisation. Other 

financial result and tax expense/income are the main 

components of the consolidated statement of income 

that are not included in the individual segment infor-

mation.

The segment income of the individual segments is 

composed as follows:

/ / Leasing: Net interest income after settlement of 

claims and risk provision, profit from service busi-

ness, profit from new business and gains/losses 

from disposals

/ / Banking: Net interest income after settlement of 

claims and risk provision

/ / Factoring: Net interest income after settlement of 

claims and risk provision

The non-cash items represent impairment losses. 

The segment assets include the assets required for 

operations. Segment liabilities correspond to liabilities 

attributable to the respective segment.

Segment assets and liabilities do not take into ac-

count tax positions.
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14. Changes in the scope of consolida-
tion in the 2022 financial year
In the second quarter of 2022, FCT “GK”-COM-

PARTMENT “G5” (FCT GK 5), based in Saint-Denis, 

France, was included in the scope of consolidation 

and consolidated for the first time. FCT GK 5 is a 

structured entity.

 GRENKE AG acquired 58 percent of the capital and 

voting shares in GC Leasing AZ LLC (Phoenix/USA) 

and GC Lease Singapore Pte Ltd (Singapore/Sin-

gapore) as of May 23, 2022. The cash outflows of 

EUR 273k (USA) and EUR 1k (Singapore) agreed in 

the purchase contract are reported in the cash flow 

statement under the item “Payments for the acquisi-

tion of subsidiaries”. Both franchise companies oper-

ating in the Leasing segment had already been fully 

consolidated prior to the acquisition of the shares. 

There were no further changes in the scope of con-

solidation in the third quarter of 2022.

15. Payments to hybrid capital holders
On March 30, 2022,  GRENKE AG made a scheduled 

coupon payment of EURk  12'946 (previous year: 

EURk 13'406) to the hybrid capital holders. 

16. Related party disclosures
The Supervisory Board of  GRENKE AG concluded a 

phantom stock agreement with all members of the 

Board of Directors in office. Payments under these 

agreements during the financial year to date amount-

ed to EUR 0k (September 30, 2021: EUR 0k).

As of September 30, 2022, the value of all existing 

phantom stock agreements amounted EUR 0k (De-

cember 31, 2021: EUR 0k). This amount is recognised 

under staff costs in the income statement and is in-

cluded under variable remuneration components.

Transactions with associated companies and 

subsidiaries

Transactions of  GRENKE AG with its subsidiaries are 

related party transactions. In the event that the trans-

action is eliminated in consolidation, no disclosure is 

required. Transactions of the  GRENKE Group with 

associated companies are to be disclosed as related 

party transactions.

Liabilities to associated companies result from the 

deposit business and balances on current accounts 

of  GRENKE BANK AG. As of the September 30, 

2022 reporting date,  GRENKE BANK AG had re-

ceived deposits and balances on current accounts 

of EUR 30k (December 31, 2021: EUR 5,178k) from 

associated companies. There were also loan receiv-

ables in the amount of EUR 0k (December 31, 2021: 

EUR 1,807k), as well as interest expenses of EUR 0k 

(September 30, 2021: EUR 0k) and interest income of 

EUR 0k (September 30, 2021: EUR 38k). In addition, 

the  GRENKE Group has another loan to an associat-

ed company in the amount of EUR 30k (December 

31, 2021: EUR 60k). An impairment loss of EUR 30k 

was incurred (September 30, 2021: EUR 0k).

Reportable transactions with subsidiaries did not 

arise in the 2022 or 2021 financial years.
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Transactions with persons in key positions

Persons in key positions are individuals who have di-

rect or indirect authority and responsibility for plan-

ning, managing, or overseeing the activities of the 

 GRENKE Group. Persons in key positions are exclu-

sively members of the Board of Directors and Super-

visory Board of  GRENKE AG who were active in the 

financial year, as well as related parties such as family 

members. The comparability of the information is lim-

ited due to the departure of Wolfgang Grenke from 

the Supervisory Board in 2021. For more information, 

please refer to section 9.6 of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements as of December 31, 2021.

In the course of its ordinary business activities, 

 GRENKE BANK AG offers services to related parties 

in key positions and persons related to this group of 

persons. As of the reporting date,  GRENKE BANK 

AG received deposits and balances on current ac-

counts in the amount of EUR 0k (December 31, 2021: 

EUR 16,918k) from persons in key positions and per-

sons related to this group of persons. The interest ex-

pense for this amounted to EUR 0k (September 30, 

2021: EUR 20k). As of the reporting date, credit card 

accounts that had not yet settled showed a balance 

of EUR  2k (December 31, 2021: EUR  39k), with a 

credit card limit of EUR  53k (December 31, 2021: 

EUR 316k) in relation to related parties in key posi-

tions. No further loans were extended to this group 

of persons during the reporting period. Income of 

EUR 0k (September 30, 2021: EUR 6k) was gener-

ated with persons in key positions. The income from 

the previous year arose, among others, from the re-

charging of data line costs, vehicle costs, and other 

costs. As of the reporting date, there were receivables 

of EUR 0k (December 31, 2021: EUR 1k) from these 

transactions.

Transactions with other related parties

Other related parties include subsidiaries and joint 

ventures of persons in key positions or persons relat-

ed to this group of persons. The comparability of the 

information is limited due to the departure of Wolfgang 

Grenke from the Supervisory Board in 2021. For more 

information, please refer to Note 9.6 of the notes to 

the consolidated financial statements as of December 

31, 2021. Other related parties include persons who 

have been declared as related parties in accordance 

with IAS 24.10 due to the economic substance of the 

relationship. 

Liabilities to other related parties result from  GRENKE 

BANK AG’s deposit business and from current ac-

count balances. As of the September 30, 2022 report-

ing date,  GRENKE BANK AG had received deposits 

and balances on current accounts from other relat-

ed parties in the amount of EUR 0k (December 31, 

2021: EUR 3,477k). Credit lines on current accounts 

were utilised in the amount of EUR 802k (December 

31, 2021: EUR  793k) with a current account credit 

limit of EUR 840k (December 31, 2021: EUR 840k). 

This resulted in interest expenses of EUR  0k (Sep-

tember 30, 2021: EUR 17k) and interest income of 

EUR  23k (September 30, 2021: EUR  19k). Income 

from other related parties of EUR 2k (September 30, 

2021: EUR 89k) resulted from leases and employee 

loans in the current year. In the previous year, income 

from other related parties resulted mainly from rental 

income and the recharging of data line costs, licence 

costs, and other costs. The  GRENKE Group also in-

curred expenses with related parties in the amount 

of EUR  0k (September 30, 2021: EUR  901k). The 

expenses in the previous year were mainly interest 

expenses from loans and commissions. Related lia-

bilities, which mainly result from loans, amounted to 

EUR 0k as of the reporting date (December 31, 2021: 

EUR 6,153k). Receivables from other related parties, 

which mainly consist of collateral payments to other 

related parties, amounted to EUR 4,518k as of Sep-

tember 30, 2022 (December 31, 2021: EUR 11,007k).
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17. Contingent liabilities
There were no material changes to contingent liabili-

ties as of September 30, 2022 compared to the level 

as of December 31, 2021.

18. Employees
In the interim reporting period, the  GRENKE Group’s 

headcount (excluding the Board of Directors) aver-

aged 1'928 employees (September 30, 2021: 1'855). 

A further 45 employees (September 30, 2021: 66) are 

in training.

19. Subsequent events
On October 4, 2022,  GRENKE AG's Board of Di-

rectors raised its guidance for new leasing business 

for the 2022 financial year as a result of the strong 

growth in new leasing business to date. Under the 

assumption that the solid business development will 

continue, the Board of Directors raised its guidance 

and now expects new leasing business of between 

EUR 2.1 billion and EUR 2.3 billion for the 2022 fi-

nancial year. In the guidance published on March 17, 

2022, the Board of Directors had anticipated new 

leasing  business volume of EUR 2.0 to 2.2 billion.

On October 13, 2022,  GRENKE successfully placed 

a new bond in the amount of EUR 20 million featuring 

a coupon of 6.25 percent and a three-year maturity.

On October 24,  2022, GRENKE AG was rated for 

the first time by the renowned rating agency Fitch. 

 GRENKE received a further investment grade rating 

of BBB with a stable outlook.

The sale of finux GmbH was completed subsequent 

to the reporting date and prior to the publication of 

this report. The purchase price of EUR 1 has already 

been collected. 

There were no other significant events after the re-

porting date.
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Review Report 

To GRENKE AG, Baden-Baden 

We have reviewed the condensed interim consoli-

dated financial statements comprising the statement 

of financial position, income statement, statement 

of comprehensive income, statement of cash flows, 

statement of changes in equity and selected explana-

tory notes, as well as the interim group management 

report of GRENKE AG, Baden-Baden, for the period 

from January 1, 2022 to September 30, 2022, which 

are part of the quarterly financial report pursuant to 

Section 115 WpHG (“Wertpapierhandelsgesetz”: 

German Securities Trading Act). The preparation of 

the condensed interim consolidated financial state-

ments in accordance with the IFRSs applicable to in-

terim financial reporting as adopted by the EU and of 

the interim group management report in accordance 

with the requirements of the WpHG applicable to in-

terim group management reports is the responsibility 

of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is 

to issue a report of the audit review of the condensed 

interim consolidated financial statements and interim 

group management report based on our review.

We conducted our review of the condensed interim 

consolidated financial statements and the interim 

group management report in accordance with Ger-

man generally accepted standards for the review of 

financial statements promulgated by the Institut der 

Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute of Public Auditors in Ger-

many [IDW]) and additionally in compliance with the 

International Standard on Review Engagements “Re-

view of Interim Financial Information Performed by the 

Independent Auditor of the Entity” (ISRE 2410). Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the review 

so that we can preclude through critical evaluation 

and with moderate assurance that the condensed in-

terim consolidated financial statements have not been 

prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with 

the IFRS applicable to interim financial reporting as 

adopted by the EU and that the interim group man-

agement report has not been prepared, in all materi-

al respects, in accordance with the provisions of the 

WpHG applicable to interim group management re-

ports. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of com-

pany personnel and analytical procedures and there-

fore does not provide the assurance attainable from 

a financial statement audit. As in accordance with 

our engagement, we have not performed a financial 

statement audit, we cannot express an audit opinion. 

Based on our review, no matters have come to our 

attention that would cause us to presume that the 

condensed interim consolidated financial statements 

have not been prepared, in all material respects, in 

accordance with the IFRSs applicable to interim fi-

nancial reporting as adopted by the EU nor that the 

interim group management report has not been pre-

pared, in all material respects, in accordance with the 

provisions of the WpHG applicable to interim group 

management reports.

Frankfurt am Main, November 7, 2022

BDO AG 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Grunwald  Schölch 

Wirtschaftsprüfer  Wirtschaftsprüfer 

(German Public Auditor)     (German Public Auditor)   
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Corporate Calendar

January 4, 2023  //  New Business Figures Q4 2022

March 16, 2023  //  Annual Report 2022

April 5, 2023  //  New Business Figures Q1 2023

May 11, 2023  //  Quarterly Statement Q1 2023

May 16, 2023  //  Annual General Meeting

July 5, 2023  //  New Business Figures Q2 2023

August 10, 2023  //  Financial Report Q2 and Q1 – Q2 2023

October 5, 2023  //  New Business Figures Q3 2023

November 9, 2023  //  Quarterly Statement Q3 and Q1 – Q3 2023
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Imprint

Information and Contact
  GRENKE AG 

Team Investor Relations 

 

Neuer Markt 2 

76532 Baden-Baden 

 

Phone: +49 7221 5007-204 

Fax: +49 7221 5007-4218 

Email: investor@ GRENKE.de

Imprint
Publisher: The Board of Directors of  GRENKE AG

Editorial:    GRENKE AG, Investor Relations

Design, layout & typesetting:  SPARKS CONSULTING GmbH, Munich 

Status: November 10, 2022

©   GRENKE AG, Baden-Baden

Disclaimer

Figures in this quarterly statement are usually presented in EURk and EUR millions. Rounding differences may occur in individual figures compared to the actual EUR amounts. Such differences are not significant in character 

due to their nature. For reasons of easier readability, gender-specific language is generally avoided, and the respective terms apply equally to all genders to ensure equal treatment.

This report is published in German and English. The German version shall prevail.
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